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SHUAA CAPITAL PSC

Notes to consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022

(Currency - Thousands of UAE. Dirhams)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS' REPORT

SHUAA Capital psc ('SHUAA" or the "Company”) and its subsidiaries, collectively (the "Group”), made
significant progress on expanding its business offering while continuing to simplify the balance sheet
with deconsolidation of AED of 2 billion of assets and liabilities improving debt-to-equity ratio from
134% in FY 2021 to 105% in FY 2022.

The Group recorded a net loss of AED 135m compared to a net profit of AED 24 million in 2021, with
the results impacted by the decision to accelerate the amortization of intangible assets and mark-
to-market losses in our managed funds. The charges taken in 2022 are non-cash in nature and do not
impact the core operations of the Group. EBITDA increased from AED (55) million in FY 2021 to AED
135 million in FY 2022 highlighting our commitment towards the high-quality revenues targeted within
the Group's strategy. Due to the impact of impairments and mark-to-market losses in the year, the
Company's board of directors (the "Board of Directors”) are not recommending a dividend payment
to the Company's shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting (2021: nil).

During the year, the Group focused on transforming the business as showcased in our financial results
reported in the second half of the year reflecting the on-going turnaround. The Group has taken
steps to simplify its capital structure with deconsolidation of c. AED 2 billion of assets and liabilities
which will significantly reduce volatility of earnings in the future.

Business Updates

In the first quarter of 2022, we successfully created the largest portfolio of Marine Offshore Supply
Vessels (OSV) in the region through the acquisition of Allianz Marine and Logistics Services Holding
Limited (Allianz) by SHUAA's managed funds. This builds on SHUAA's investments in the OSV space
following the acquisition of Stanford Marine Group in 2020 and one is of the largest deals in offshore
space globally. We expect to derive significant revenue and cost synergies and economies of scale
annually from the combination of two of the leading OSV operators in the region.

The second quarter of 2022 also saw a management transition with long-standing employee of the
Group, Fawad Tariq Khan, appointed as the Chief Executive Officer. He replaces Jassim Alseddiqi,
who maintains his significant shareholding in the Group and joins the Board of Directors as
Managing Director.

In the third quarter of 2022, Eshraq Investments also completed its acquisition of Goldilocks Fund, a
fund managed by the Group. This provided liquidity to fund investors and also provides a perpetual
revenue stream for SHUAA's asset management business through its continued management of the
fund. Furthermore, as a result, the Group deconsolidated c. AED 2 billion of assets and liabilities,
simplying its balance sheet and reducing leverage.

The Real Estate business made significant strides in 2022 with the Group delivering its landmark
projects in London, The Broadway and No 1 Palace Street. In the fourth quarter of 2022, the Group in
partnership with Ellington Properties and Sol Properties signed an agreement to develop '‘Ocean
House', a prime waterfront property on Palm Jumeirah.

The fourth quarter of 2022 also featured the launch of three new Sharia-compliant funds under the
ICC funds umbrella. With the launch of new funds, the ICC umbrella now offers five shariah-
compliant funds with AuM of USD 230 million. The new funds which include SHUAA Global Sukuk
Fund, SHUAA Global Equity Fund and SHUAA North American Equity Fund will strengthen our client
offerings to diversify their investments across geographies and asset classes. For the Group, the
expansion of fund offering is in line with the strategy to diversify and grow its recurring revenue
base.




SHUAA CAPITAL PSC

Notes to consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022

(Currency - Thousands of UAE. Dirhams)
BOARD OF DIRECTORS' REPORT (continued)

2022 Review and 2023 Outlook

2022 was transformational for the Group as we executed on a plan for a simpler, more focused
financial services firm, built around client needs and innovative investments. The Group continued to
generate recurring revenues with the focus on developing its core business through the launch of
various investment funds. Despite the prolonged global market volatility in 2022, the Group took
measures to optimize costs and deleverage its balance sheet.

2023 will continue to see the benefits of cost optimization measures taken in 2022 as well as the
generation of recurring revenues through its managed funds. The Group expects to launch more
funds to build up its recurring revenue base and deliver on investment banking mandates. As an
overriding strategy it is also focused on capital return and reducing leverage across its balance
sheet.

The Board would like to thank and extend our gratitude to all our existing and future shareholders,
investors and stakeholders for their continued support and confidence in the Company.

Directors

Fadhel Al Ali (Chairman)
Badr Al-Olama (elected Vice Chairman on 15.62022) (Vice Chairman)
Maha AlQattan (Director)
Jassim Alseddiqi (elected 15.06.2022) (Director)
Andre Sayegh (elected 02.02.2023) (Director)
Ahmed Bin Braik (resigned 15.06.2022) (Vice Chairman)
Christopher Ward (resigned 28.07.2022) (Director)
Lamis Al Hashimy (resigned 28.07.2022) (Director)
Murshed Alredaini (resigned 17.01.2023) (Director)
Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers were appointed as external auditors and conducted an audit of the
annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Board of Directors has
recommended PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditors for 2023 for approval by the shareholders
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

et

Fadhel Alali
Chairman
22 March 2023
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of SHUAA Capital
PSC

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of SHUAA Capital PSC (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) as at 31
December 2022, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

What we have audited

The Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise:

e the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2022;
e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) and the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements in the United Arab Emirates. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code.

PricewaterhouseCoopers (Dubai Branch), License no. 102451
Emaar Square, Building 5, P O Box 11987, Dubai - United Arab Emirates
T: +971 (0)4 304 3100, F: +971 (0)4 346 9150, www.pwc.com/me

Jacques Fakhoury, Douglas O’Mahony, Wassim El Afchal, Murad Alnsour and Rami Sarhan are registered as practising auditors with the
UAE Ministry of Economy 3



Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of SHUAA Capital
PSC (continued)

Our audit approach

Overview

Key Audit Matters e Impairment of goodwill and indefinite-life intangible assets
e Impairment of investment in associates
e Valuation of financial instruments (Level 3)
e Liquidity considerations

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the
consolidated financial statements. In particular, we considered where management made subjective judgements;
for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering
future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management
override of internal controls, including among other matters consideration of whether there was evidence of bias
that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the accounting
processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the Key audit matter

Impairment of goodwill and indefinite-life Our approach to addressing this key audit matter

intangible assets included the following procedures:

As part of the purchase price allocation e Comparing the budgeted cash flows for the previous

performed in 2019 upon the merger of SHUAA financial years to the actual performance.

and Abu Dhabi Financial Group (“ADFG”),

significant goodwill and indefinite-life intangible e Reviewing the methodology and significant cash

assets were identified and continue to be flow; discount and growth rate inputs used by

recognised in the Group’s consolidated management in the value in use (“ViU”) calculation

statement of financial position as at 31 and performing the following procedures to obtain

December 2022. an understanding of the cash flows projections
related to each cash generating unit (“CGU”):

As per IAS 36, management is required at o Inquiry with management on business plans;

least on an annual basis to assess whether o Review of supporting business plans,

there is any indication that an asset may be management budgets and forecasts; and

impaired and if so, perform an assessment to o Reviewing minutes of meetings in relation to

determine any impairment using the higher of future plans.

fair value less costs to sell and value in use.




Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of SHUAA Capital
PSC (continued)

Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the Key audit matter

e Reviewing and comparing the appropriateness of
discount rates used by management in the value in
use calculations to industry benchmarks and

Although an improvement in the economy of CEETETE (e

the region was observed as countries

navigated the aftermath of the COVID-19 e Assessing the appropriateness of the market proxies
pandemic, rising inflation worldwide, used by management in determining the discount
redeployment of capital and macro-economic rate for their Real Estate CGU with input from our
implication of the Ukraine-Russia conflict were experts.

considered impairment indicators. o i )
e Reviewing management’s assumptions for expected

We determined that the impairment of goodwill cash flows in accordance with the requirements of
and indefinite life intangible assets is significant IAS 36, Impairment of assets.
to the audit of the current year’s consolidated
financial statements due to materiality of the e Assessing the appropriateness of disclosures made
amounts involved and significant judgement in the consolidated financial statements in relation to
exercised by management in: goodwill and indefinite-life intangible assets

e the determination of the expected cash presented in Note 16 and the inherent judgements

flows related to each CGU:; involved, as described in note 3.17 and 4.

e the determination of the discount rates
used by management in the value in
use calculations; and

e the determination of the growth rates
used by management in the expected
cash flows in Note 16.

Impairment of investments in associates Our approach to addressing this key audit matter
included the following procedures:

The Group’s strategy, involving the
deleveraging of the consolidated statement of
financial position, has resulted in the Group
acquiring a significant investment which is

e Obtaining an understanding of the material
transactions entered into by the Group which
resulted in the acquisition of interest in associates

= > during the year by:

recognised in accordance with IAS 28 -

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures o reviewing the Group’s board materials, minutes

as at 31 December 2022. and resolutions for the transaction approvals; and
o reviewing the transaction agreements, conditions,

The investments comprise both listed and and contingencies.

privately held equity holdings where the Group

has significant influence. e Testing the completeness and accuracy of the assets

and liabilities included in individual transactions by
reviewing asset swap agreements and title transfer
documents.

e Testing, with involvement of our experts, the
appropriateness of the Group’s assessment and
application of IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in the recognition
of the investment in associate.




Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of SHUAA Capital

PSC (continued)

Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the Key audit matter

e Reviewing management’s value in use calculation
and performing the following procedures to obtain
an understanding of the cash flows projections
related to each cash generating unit (“CGU”):

Impairment of investments in associates
(continued)

Management has reviewed the appropriateness
of the carrying amounts of investments in
associates and carried out impairment
assessments where impairment indicators have
been identified.

We considered this to be a key audit matter in
view of the significance of the Group’s
investments in associates and the judgements
involved in the identification of potential
impairment indicators as well as the underlying
assumptions and inputs used by management
in performing impairment assessments.

Further details of the Group’s investment in
associates are disclosed in Note 14.

(e]

(e]

Inquiry with management on strategy related to
the investments;

Review of historical data used by management in
their forecasts;

Reviewing minutes of meetings in relation to
future plans; and

Assessing the appropriateness of the discount
rate and growth rate used by management in the
ViU calculation.

e Assessing the appropriateness of disclosures made
in relation to the subsequent event and the
impairment in the investment in associate in Note 14
and 30.

Valuation of financial instruments (Level 3)

The Group’s investment securities portfolio
includes certain level 3 securities for which
the Group determines the fair value using
discounted cash flow models, residual value
and third-party net asset valuations (NAVs)
that use significant unobservable inputs.

Unobservable inputs require the use of
significant judgement. The key unobservable
inputs used in the models of such unquoted
securities includes discount rates, growth rates,
future cashflows and adjusted book values.

We determined that the assessment of the fair
value of unquoted securities is significant to the
audit of the current year’s consolidated financial
statements due to the materiality of unquoted
investments and the high degree of measurement
uncertainty involved in the determination of
unobservable inputs used in the valuation
models.

Further details of financial instruments are
disclosed in Note 24.

Our approach to addressing this key audit matter
included the following procedures:

Evaluation by our experts of the methodologies
and significant inputs used by the Group in the
valuation models;

Testing, with involvement of our experts, the fair
values of a sample of unquoted securities.
Depending on the nature of the security, key
unobservable inputs including future cash flows
were compared to relevant information or
independent estimates of fair value were
developed and compared to the fair values
determined by the Group; and

Assessing the disclosures made in note 24 of the
consolidated financial statements, to ensure
compliance with IFRS 7, IFRS 9 and IFRS13.




Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of SHUAA Capital
PSC (continued)

Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the Key audit matter

Our approach to addressing this key audit matter included

Liquidi . . .
iquidity considerations the following procedures:

The Group has to repay a substantial part of
its borrowings and other financial liabilities, e Reviewing the reasonableness of management’s

amounting to AED 970m, in the upcoming 12
months.

Management has prepared a number of
strategies to ensure that the current
repayment obligations are met on due dates.
These include repayment of the borrowings
from projected cash inflows, in conjunction
with non-cash settlement of part of the
borrowings as well as other refinancing
options.

Management has commenced discussions
with existing lenders for the non-cash
settlement of part of the borrowings as well
as with new lenders over refinancing
opportunities.

We considered liquidity considerations to be
a key audit matter in view of the significant
amount of debt obligations due for
repayment in 2023 and the judgements and
estimates made by management in
developing the assumptions underlying the
Group’s cash flow projections which
incorporate cash outflows arising from debt
repayments as well as the ability of the Group
to continue to comply with debt covenants.

Further details of Liquidity risk are included
in Note 25.

strategies and their reconciliation between available
cash, inbound cash and maturity of current
borrowings;

Evaluating the ability of the Group to obtain new
financing including discussions currently in place
with prospective lenders;

Reviewing the cash flow projections of the Group
and the reasonableness of the assumptions and
estimations included in the projections;

Obtaining the Group’s projected results over the
next 3 years including quarterly projections for the
next year and in order to evaluate the risk of debt
covenant breaches ahead of maturity of the Bond
and existing loans; and

Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures made in
note 25 of the consolidated financial statements to
ensure compliance with IAS 1 and IFRS 7.




Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of SHUAA Capital
PSC (continued)

Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Annual report (but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon). We obtained the Board
of Directors’ Report prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and the remaining information of the annual report is
expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the remaining information of the annual report of the Group, if we conclude that there is a material
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated
financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and their preparation in compliance with the
applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.



Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of SHUAA Capital
PSC (continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Further, as required by the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021, we report that:

i) we have obtained all the information we considered necessary for the purposes of our audit;



Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of SHUAA Capital
PSC (continued)

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements (continued)

i) the consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, with the
applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021;

iii) the Group has maintained proper books of account;

iv) the financial information included in the report of the Board of Directors is consistent with the books of
account of the Group;

v) as disclosed in note 24.1 to the consolidated financial statements the Group has purchased or invested
in shares during the year ended 31 December 2022;

vi) note 23 to the consolidated financial statements discloses material related party transactions, and the
terms under which they were conducted;

vii) Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements discloses the social contributions made
during the year ended 31 December 2022; and

viii) based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has come to our attention which
causes us to believe that the Group has contravened during the year ended 31 December 2022 any of
the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021, or in respect of the Company,
its Articles of Association which would materially affect its activities or its financial position as at 31
December 2022;

PricewaterhouseCoopers
22 March 2023

M O /\/L‘/Co/\7
Douglas ahony

Registered Auditor Number 834
Place: Dubai, United Arab Emirates
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SHUAA CAPITAL PSC

Consolidated statement of profit or loss
for the year ended 31 December 2022

(Currency - Thousands of UAE. Dirhams)

Continving operations
Revenue

Net foreign exchange gain
Otherincome

Change in fair value (losses)/gains from financial assets at fair

value through profit or loss (FVTPL

Share of net profit/(loss) of investments in associates

accounted for using the equity method
Gain on derivative financial liability

Total Income

Staff costs

Employee carried interest

General and administrative expenses

Depreciation and amortisation

Provision for impairment losses on financial instruments

Total expenses

Profit/(loss) before impairment of intangibles and finance

costs
Finance cost
Finance credit relating to unit holders
Impairment of intangibles and other items

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations

Discontinued operations
(Loss)/profit from discontinued operations

(Loss)/profit for the year
Attributable to:

Owners of the Parent
Non-controlling interests

Loss per share attributable to Owners from continuing
operations (in AED)

Earnings per share attributable to Owners (AED)

* Refer to note 32 for changes to comparatives

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Notes

1516

19.3

29

22

22

31 December
2022
Audited

265,739
25,650
160,886

(128,132)

156,863
1,883

(144,076)
(5,543)
(64,194)
(27,911)
(12,203)

(109,671)
16,410
(125,602)

(122,497)

(135,204)
12,707

(122,497)

(0.001)

(0.05)

31 December
2021*
Audited

322,679
5900
31271

37105

(157,062)
2590

(158,608)

(75,993)
(45,893)
(11,020)

(49,031)

(92992)
(2133)
(2,705)

(146,861)

217,795

1



SHUAA CAPITAL PSC

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

for the year ended 31 December 2022

(Currency - Thousands of UAE. Dirhams)

Notes
(Loss)/Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

ltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign
operations 21
Net loss on cash flow hedges
- Share of other comprehensive income from
investment in associates (classified as held for sale)
- Cash flow hedges 21

ftems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Changes in the fair value of equity investments at fair
value through other comprehensive loss (FVOCH)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year
Attributable to:

Owners of the Parent
Non-controlling interests

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

31 December

2022
Audited

(122,497)

(61,639)
12,158

(18,947)

(68,428)

(190,925)

(178,228)
(12,697)

(190,925)

31 December
2021
Audited

70,934

(15,612)

53368
@n

(35134)

12



SHUAA CAPITAL PSC

Consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2022

(Currency - Thousands of UAE. Dirhams)

31 31
December December
2022 2021
Audited Audited
Notes
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1 64,151 460,648
Receivables and other debit balances 12 407,061 351,040
Loans, advances and finance leases 13 274,503 236,266
Financial assets at fair value 241 668,602 3,113,590
Investments in associates 14 947,599 554,036
Property and equipment 15 25,693 34,362
Goodwill and other intangible assets 16 902,234 1,212,014
Assets held for sale 291 186,130 5930
Total assets 3,475,973 5767886
Liabilities
Payables and other credit balances 17 488,469 802,092
Other financial liabilities 18 163,808 148267
Borrowings 19 1,206,206 1,985,419
Payables to unit holders 29,290 986,046
Liabilities of disposal groups classified as held for sale 2902 68,019 -
Total liabilities 1,955,792 3,021,824
Equity
Share capital 20 2,535,720 2,535,720
Share premium 52,579 52,579
Statutory reserve 49,631 49,631
Other reserves 21 (1,467,476) (1,424,452)
Retained earnings 76,579 240,479
Equity attributable to Owners 1,247,033 1453957
Non-controlling interests (NCI) 28 273,148 392105
Net equity 1,520,181 1,846,062

Total equity and liabilities 3,475,973 5767886

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorized
forissue on 22 March 2023.

%— \WMMU\.F;\

Fadhel Alali Fawad Tarig Khan
Chairman Group Chief Executive Officer

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SHUAA CAPITAL PSC

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

(Currency - Thousands of UAE. Dirhams)

Equity Non -
Share Share Statutory Other Retained attributable .
capital premium reserve (*) reserves earnings to owners of c?ntrollnng Total
the Parent interests

Balance at 1 January 2021 2,535,720 52,579 47207 (1,439,146) 293,727 1,490,087 536,090 2,026,177
Profit for the year - - - - 24,238 24,238 46,696 70,934
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year - - - 14,694 - 14,694 (12,093) 2,601
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 14,694 24,238 38,932 34,603 73,535
Transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners

Payment of dividend - - - - (76,071) 76,071) (65,851) (141,922)
Transactions with owners - - - - (18,626) (18,626) 76,871 58,245
Disposal of Treasury shares - - - - 19,635 19,635 - 19,635
NCI on exit of a subsidiary - - - - - - (189,608) (189,608)
Transfer to statutory reserve - - 2424 - 2,424) - - -
Balance at 31 December 2021 2535720 52579 49,631 (1,424,452) 240,479 1,453,957 392105 1,846,062
(Loss)/profit for the year - - - - (135,204) (135,204) 12,707 (122,497)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year - - - (43,024) - (43,024) (25,404) (68,428)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - (43,024) (135,204) (178,228) (12,697) (190,925)
Impact of first-time application of IAS 29 - - - - (4,695) (4,695) (6,077) (10,772)
Equity movement of associate - - - - (10,575) (10,575) - (10,575)
Acquisition of subsidiary - - - - - - 118,153 118,153
Transactions with unit holders - - - - (13,426) (13,426) (73,359) (86,785)
Capital contribution - - - - - - 50,000 50,000
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 30) - - - - - - (178,928) (178,928)
Dividend paid to NCI - - - - - - (16,049) (16,049)
Balance at 31 December 2022 2,535,720 52,579 49,631 (1,467,476) 76,579 1,247,033 273,148 1,520,181

*

On 20 September 2021, the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021 ("Companies Law") was issued and came into effect on 2 January 2022 which repealed the UAE Federal Law No. 2 of 2015. The Group has reviewed the
new provisions and applied the requirements during the year.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SHUAA CAPITAL PSC

Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2022

(Currency - Thousands of UAE. Dirhams)

Cash flows from operating activities

(Loss)/Profit for the year

Adjustments for (non-cash items):

Finance credit relating to unit holders

Income on deemed disposal of associate

Fair value uplift on land

Foreign exchange gain

Carried interest recognised - net

Finance cost

Net interest income

Finance lease modification charge

Fair value (gain)/ loss on financial assets at FVTPL
Share of (profit)/ loss from investments in associates
Dividend income

Gain on revaluation of derivative financial liabilities
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Employees' end of service benefit charge

Provisions and allowances for impairment - net
Goodwill and intangible impairment

Depreciation and amortization

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital
Increase / (decrease) in receivables and other debit balances

Decrease in loans and advances

(Decrease) /increase in payables and other credit balances

Decrease in other financial liabilities

Cash flows from operating activities of discontinued
operations

Net cash generated from operations
Employees' end of service benefit paid
Dividend income

Net cash generated from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities **
Payments for the purchase of investments
Proceeds from disposal of investments
Distributions from associates

Dividends from associates

Net acquisition of property and equipment

Net interest received

Net cash from discontinued operations

Net cash from acquired in business combination
Net cash from disposal of subsidiaries

Cash flow from investing activities of discontinued operations

Net cash generated from investing activities

Notes

10
10

14

16
1516

14

14

29

30
294

31 December
2022
Audited

(122,497)

(16,410)
(68,989)
(39.540)
(25,650)
5,543
109,671
(3.911)
300
128,132
(156,863)

(1,883)
(14,476)
4,359
12,203
119,615
27,91
(42,484)
307,920
217,020
(383,795)
(7,665)

(76,601)

14,395
(9,020)

54,622
19,985

3,911
(5,712)
14,332
(150,953)
158,300

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

31 December
2021
Audited”

70,934

407274

(5,200)
10,426
147362
(7198)
4,320
(654,922)
157,062
(96,044)
(2590)

5,621
17,780

100,139
(147,982)
98,910
158,931
a,716)

(8,016)

200,266
(6276)
96,044

290,034

(476,050)
565302
26,741
1818
(22,055)
7198
28,324

309138

440,416
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SHUAA CAPITAL PSC

Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

(Currency - Thousands of UAE. Dirhams)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of borrowings

Lease rentals paid

Dividends paid

Proceeds from sale of treasury shares

Finance cost paid

Cash flow from financing activities of discontinued operations

Net cash used in financing activities
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

*

Refer to note 32 for changes to comparatives.

19.3
19.3

il
il

31 December
2022
Audited

(169,145)
(1,916)
(16,032)

(85,709)
(223,555)

(496,357)

(396,497)

453,520
5,878

31 December
2021
Audited”

195,590
(5690,843)
(6,848)
(141,920)
19,635
(162,391)

(686,777)

** Cash flows from investing activities exclude AED 20,927 non-cash items in 2021. There are no non-cash

transactions in 2022.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SHUAA CAPITAL PSC

Notes to consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

(Currency - Thousands of UAE. Dirhams)

1. LEGAL STATUS AND ACTIVITIES

SHUAA Capital PS.C. (the "Company” or "SHUAA") is a public shareholding company established in Dubai, United
Arab Emirates, pursuant to Emiri Decree No. 6 of 25 April 1979 and in accordance with the UAE Federal Law No.
8 of 1984 concerning Commercial Companies and its amendments ("Companies Law”). The registered address
of the Company is P.O. Box 31045, Dubai, United Arab Emirates. The Company's shares are traded on the Dubai
Financial Market in the United Arab Emirates.

The Company is licensed by the Securities and Commodities Authority to conduct Investment Management,
Financial Consulting and Financial Analysis, Promotion, Introduction and Issuance Management activities. The
Company and its subsidiaries conduct a diversified range of investment and financial services activities with
special emphasis on the Arab region in general, the UAE and the G.C.C. markets in particular, and are actively
involved in public and private capital markets in the region.

Group structure

The principal activities of Abu Dhabi Financial Group ("ADFC") (accounting acquirer) and its subsidiaries
(together referred as the "Croup”) are to carry out commercial and real estate investment activities,
establishment and management of enterprises, consultancy services, investment banking and trading in
securities. The extent of the Group’s ownership in the material subsidiaries and associates with their principal

activities have been listed below:

Effective Effective
Place of Principal ownership ownership
Name of the entity incorporation activity interest % interest %
31 31
December December
2022 2021
Material subsidiaries
Commercial enterprise
AD CopManage Ltd. (BVI) BV.I investment, institution & 100.0% 100.0%
management
ADCM Ltd Cayman nvestment 100.0% 100.0%
Islands management
ADCM Resources Ltd E?Oymrgzn Investment advisory 100.0% 100.0%
ADCM Emp Carry Ltd BV.L Special Purpose Vehicle 100.0% 100.0%
AD Power Limited E?Oymrgzn Investment holding 100.0% 100.0%
BBD Partners P () Cayman nvestment 100.0% 100.0%
Islands management
HLOLHCZOD nvestments- Sole Prop UAE Investment holding 100.0% 100.0%
Integrated EE Holdings Montenegro Project management 100.0% 100.0%
Gulf Finance Corporation CJSC* Saudi Arabia Financing 100.0% 100.0%
Gulf Finance Corporation PJSC* UAE Financing 100.0% 100.0%
SHUAA Capital PSC UAE Financial services and 100.0% 100.0%
investments holding
SHUAA Capital Saudi Arabia CJSC  Scaudi Arabia Financial services 100.0% 100.0%
SHUAA Securities Egypt SAE*™* Egypt Brokerage - 100.0%
Integrated Capital PJSC UAE Financial services 96.00% 96.00%
Ai‘fgor Economic Consultancy Jordan Consultancy 94.30% 9430%
AmwalInternational nvestment Kuwait Financial services 87.20% 8720%
Company KSCP
Qannas Investments Ltd Cayman Investment holding 80.80% -
Islands
NCM Investment Company KS.C Kuwait Brokerage and Trading - 44.50%
(Disposed off)
Spadille Limited Jersey Investment holding 85.00% 85.00%




SHUAA CAPITAL PSC

Notes to consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

(Currency - Thousands of UAE. Dirhams)

1. LEGAL STATUS AND ACTIVITIES (continued)

Group structure (continued)

Name of the entity Place of Principal Effective Effective
incorporation activity ownership ownership
interest % interest %
31 31
December December
2022 2021
Development
Northacre Limited UK management 83.90% 83.90%
Goldilocks Investment Company
Limited (ii)(Disposed off) UAE Investment holding - 34.40%
Cayman
Squadron Properties (ii) Islands Investment holding 33.00% 33.00%
Astrea Asset Management Property
Limited (i) UK management 33.00% 33.00%
Cayman
Eagle T2 Islands Investment holding 100.00% 100.00%
Northacre Capital Ltd BVI Investment Manager 100.00% -
Name of the entity Place of Principal Effective Effective
incorporation activity ownership ownership
interest % interest %
31 31
December December
2022 2021
Material Associates
Eshrag Investments PJSC UAE Investments holding 35.30%
City Engineering LLC UAE Contracting 40.00% 40.00%
SHUAA Hospitality Fund I LP. iii) E“]Gymrx” Investrent holding 33.10% 3310%
SHUAA Saudi Hospitality Fund | Saudi Arabia Investment holding 33.20% 33.20%
ngnn’g*s*\*rjvestmems Limited Cayman Investment holding ) 3550%
("QIL" Islands
ADCORP Limited * UAE slamic financicl 24.80% 24.30%
institution
Thalassa Investment LP ***** E?Oymrgzn Investment holding 1.73% 2590%
* These subsidiaries and associates are under liquidation.
i Disposed in 2021
e Consolidated in 2022
e Reclassified to FVTPL
0] Effective ownership interest of 50% in BBD Partners GP is held through a subsidiary.

(i)

@i

Based on the concept of 'control' as stipulated in (FRS 10, ADFG concluded that although it has less than
50% voting rights in the above-mentioned entities, it has 'de facto’ control based on respective size of
its holding of voting rights relative to the holdings of other vote holders and its representation on the
investee's Board of Directors. In addition, the Croup has determined that it has control and therefore
consolidates the Fund, as it is exposed to its variable returns and has the key decision-making powers
necessary to affect the amount of those returns in its capacity as investment manager. Accordingly, the
above-mentioned entities have been consolidated in these financial statements.

SHUAA Hospitality Fund | LP, a closed ended private equity investment fund registered as an exempted
limited partnership in the Cayman Islands. As a consequence of cross investment holdings by this fund
the Group indirectly owns 263% of SHUAA Saudi Hospitality Fund |, a closed ended investment fund
regulated by the Capital Markets Authority in Saudi Arabia. SHUAA acts as an agent to the fund and
not as principal.




SHUAA CAPITAL PSC

Notes to consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

(Currency - Thousands of UAE. Dirhams)

1. LEGAL STATUS AND ACTIVITIES (continued)
Business combination in 2022

As at 17 January 2022, the Group had entered into an asset swap transaction involving the exit of a historic
portfolio of illiquid investments and a number of financial instruments in return for the totality of shares held by
the majority shareholder of Qannas Investments Limited (QIL) and o finance receivable. As a result of the
transaction, the Group stepped up its interest in QIL from 3550% to 80.81% and acquired control of the existing
associate. The effective consideration in the acquisition was the fair value of the existing investment in the
associate. The carrying amount of the identifiable net assets of the associate were deemed equal to their fair
values.

Details of the consideration and fair value of net identifiable assets acquired are as follows:

Effective date of consolidation - 17 January 2022 QlL
Effective ownership interest (%) 80.81%

Purchase consideration* 320,013

Fair value of net assets acquired

Cash and deposits with banks 14,332
Receivables and other debit balances 9,282
Loans, advances and finance leases 170,268
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 623,827
Borrowings (292,131)
Payables and other credit balances (87,412)
Net identifiable assets acquired 438,166
Non-controlling interest (118,153)

Net Assets acquired 320,013

The acquisition resulted in a Day 1 FV uplift of 68,989 on the carrying amount of the associate prior to becoming
a subsidiary as a result of receipt of equity investments in the associate. The nominal purchase price allocation
assessment performed by the Croup has not identified any intangible assets or attributable goodwill.

*Purchase consideration represents the Group's share of the fair value of QIL held by the Group directly as well
as indirectly via its subsidiaries. The purchase consideration includes the Day 1 FV uplift.

Changes to laws and regulations
Implementation of UAE Corporation Tax Law and application of IAS 12 Income Taxes

On 9 December 2022, the UAE Ministry of Finance released Federal Decree-Law No. 47 of 2022 on the Taxation of
Corporations and Businesses (Corporate Tax Law or the Law) to enact a Federal corporate tax regime in the
UAE. The Law was previously gazetted on 10 October 2022, becoming law 15 days later. The Corporate Tax
regime will become effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2023,

However, at year end the threshold at which the 9% tax rate would apply was not finalised in the Law as the
relevant Cabinet Decision had not been announced. Therefore, pending this decision by the Cabinet, the
[Company] has determined that the Law was not practically operational as at 31 December 2022, and so not
enacted or substantively enacted from the perspective of IAS 12 - Income Taxes. Following the publication of the
Cabinet Decision on 16 January 2023, the Company will be subject to a 9% corporate tax rate on taxable income
above a threshold of AED 375,000 for periods beginning on or after 1 June 2023 The Group is currently in the
process of assessing the possible impact on its financial statements, both from current and deferred tax
perspective.




SHUAA CAPITAL PSC

Notes to consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

(Currency - Thousands of UAE. Dirhams)
2, APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS")
21 New and revised IFRS adopted in the consolidated financial statements

The following new and revised IFRS, which became effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022, have been adopted in these consolidated financial statements. The application of these revised [FRSs,
except where stated, have not had any material impact on the amounts reported for the current and prior year.

Title Key requirements Effective
Date
Property, The amendment to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment (PP&E) prohibits an 1 January
Plant and entity from deducting from the cost of an item of PP&E any proceeds received 2022
Equipment: from selling items produced while the entity is preparing the asset forits intended
Proceeds use. It also clarifies that an entity is ‘testing whether the asset is functioning
before properly’ when it assesses the technical and physical performance of the asset.
intended use  The financial performance of the asset is not relevant to this assessment.
Amendments  Entities must disclose separately the amounts of proceeds and costs relating to
to IAS 16 items produced that are not an output of the entity’s ordinary activities.
Reference to Minor amendments were made to IFRS 3 Business Combinations to update the 1 January
the references to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting and add an 2022
Conceptual exception for the recognition of liabilities and contingent liabilities within the
Framework - scope of IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and
Amendments  Interpretation 21 Levies. The amendments also confirm that contingent assets
to IFRS 3 should not be recognised at the acquisition date.
Onerous The amendment to IAS 37 clarifies that the direct costs of fulfilling a contract 1 January
Contracts - include both the incremental costs of fulfilling the contract and an allocation of 2022
Cost of other costs directly related to fulfilling contracts. Before recognising o separate
Fulfilling a provision for an onerous contract, the entity recognises any impairment loss that
Contract has occurred on assets used in fulfilling the contract.
Amendments
to IAS 37
Annual The following improvements were finalised in May 2020: 1 January
Improvement e [FRS 9 Financial Instruments - clarifies which fees should be included in the 2022
s to IFRS 10% test for derecognition of financial liabilities.
Standards e [FRS 16 Leases - amendment of illustrative example 13 to remove the
2018-2020 illustration of payments from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements,
to remove any confusion about the treatment of lease incentives.
e |FRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards -
allows entities that have measured their assets and liabilities at carrying
amounts recorded in their parent’s books to also measure any cumulative
translation differences using the amounts reported by the parent. This
amendment will also apply to associates and joint ventures that have taken
the same IFRS 1 exemption.
e |AS 41 Agriculture - removal of the requirement for entities to exclude cash
flows for taxation when measuring fair value under IAS 41. This amendment
is intended to align with the requirement in the standard to discount cash
flows on a post-tax basis.
IFRIC Agenda  In October 2022, the IASB finalised the agenda decision approved by the IFRS 1 January
decision - Interpretation Committee (IFRS IC) on 'Lessor Forgiveness of Lease Payments 2022
Lessor (IFRS 9 and IFRS 16). The agenda decision addresses the accounting from the

forgiveness of
lease

perspective of the lessor, and in particular:

e how the expected credit loss (ECL") model in IFRS 9 should be applied to the

payments
(IFRS 9 and operating lease receivable when the lessor expects to forgive payments
IFRS 16) due from the lessee under the lecse contract before the rent concession is

granted.

e whether to apply the derecognition requirements in IFRS 9 or the lease
modification requirements in IFRS 16 when accounting for the rent
concession

20



SHUAA CAPITAL PSC

Notes to consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

(Currency - Thousands of UAE. Dirhams)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS")
(continued)
22 New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet effective and not early adopted
Title Key requirements Effective
Date
IFRS 17 IFRS 17 was issued in May 2017 as replacement for IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts. It 1January
Insurance requires a current measurement model where estimates are remeasured in each 2023
Contracts reporting period. Contracts are measured using the building blocks of: (deferred
from 1
- discounted probability-weighted cash flows January
« an explicit risk adjustment, and 2021)

« a contractual service margin (CSM) representing the unearned profit of the
contract which is recognised as revenue over the coverage period.

The standard allows a choice between recognising changes in discount rates
either in the statement of profit or loss or directly in other comprehensive income.
The choice is likely to reflect how insurers account for their financial assets under
IFRS 9.

An optional, simplified premium allocation approach is permitted for the liability
for the remaining coverage for short duration contracts, which are often written
by non-life insurers.

There is a modification of the general measurement model called the ‘variable
fee approach’ for certain contracts written by life insurers where policyholders
share in the returns from underlying items. When applying the variable fee
approach, the entity's share of the fair value changes of the underlying items is
included in the CSM. The results of insurers using this model are therefore likely to
be less volatile than under the general model.

The new rules will affect the financial statements and key performance indicators
of all entities that issue insurance contracts or investment contracts with
discretionary participation features.

Targeted amendments made in July 2020 aimed to ease the implementation of
the standard by reducing implementation costs and making it easier for entities
to explain the results from applying IFRS 17 to investors and others. The
amendments also deferred the application date of IFRS 17 to 1 January 2023,

Further amendments made in December 2021 added a transition option that
permits an entity to apply an optional classification overlay in the comparative
period(s) presented on initial application of IFRS 17. The classification overlay
applies to all financial assets, including those held in respect of activities not
connected to contracts within the scope of IFRS 17. It allows those assets to be
classified in the comparative period(s) in a way that aligns with how the entity
expects those assets to be classified on initial application of IFRS 9. The
classification can be applied on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Classification  The narrow-scope amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January
of Liabilities clarify that liabilities are classified as either current or noncurrent, depending on 2023

as the rights that exist at the end of the reporting period. Classification is unaffected  (deferred
Current or by the entity's expectations or events after the reporting date (e.g. the receipt of  from 1
Non-current — o waver or a breach of covenant). The amendments also clarify what IAS 1 means  January
Amendments  when it refers to the ‘settlement’ of a liability. 2022)**
to IAS 1 The amendments could affect the classification of liabilities, particularly for

entities that previously considered management's intentions to determine
classification and for some liabilities that can be converted into equity. They must
be applied retrospectively in accordance with the normal requirements in IAS 8
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.

** Since approving these amendments, the IASB has issued an exposure draft
proposing further changes and the deferral of the amendments until at least 1
January 2024.
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SHUAA CAPITAL PSC

Notes to consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

(Currency - Thousands of UAE. Dirhams)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ("IFRS")

(continued)

2.2 New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet effective and not early adopted (continued)
New and Key requirements

revised IFRS

Disclosure of The IASB amended IAS 1 to require entities to disclose their material rather
Accounting than their significant accounting policies. The amendments define what is
Policies - ‘material accounting policy information” and explain how to identify when
Amendments to  accounting policy information is material. They further clarify that immaterial
IAS 1 and IFRS accounting policy information does not need to be disclosed. If it is disclosed,
Practice it should not obscure material accounting information.

Statement 2

Definition of
Accounting
Estimates -
Amendments to
IAS 8

Deferred Tax
related to Assets
and Liabilities
arising from a
Single
Transaction -
Amendments to
IAS 12

Amendment to
IFRS 16 - Leases
on sale and
leaseback

To support this amendment, the IASB also amended IFRS Practice Statement
2 Making Materiality Judgements to provide guidance on how to apply the
concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.

The amendment to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors clarifies how companies should distinguish changes in
accounting policies from changes in accounting estimates. The distinction is
important, because changes in accounting estimates are applied
prospectively to future transactions and other future events, but changes in
accounting policies are generally applied retrospectively to past
transactions and other past events as well as the current period.

The amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes require companies to recognise
deferred tax on transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to egual
amounts of taxable and deductible temporary differences. They will typically
apply to transactions such as leases of lessees and decommissioning
obligations and will require the recognition of additional deferred tax assets
and liabilities.

The amendment should be applied to transactions that occur on or after the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented. In addition, entities
should recognise deferred tax assets (to the extent that it is probable that
they can be utilised) and deferred tax liabilities at the beginning of the
earliest comparative period for all deductible and taxable temporary
differences associated with:

right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, and decommissioning, restoration
and similar liabilities, and the corresponding amounts recognised as part of
the cost of the related assets.

The cumulative effect of recognising these adjustments is recognised in
retained earnings, or another component of equity, as appropriate. IAS 12 did
not previously address how to account for the tax effects of on-balance sheet
leases and similar transactions and various approaches were considered
acceptable. Some entities may have already accounted for such transactions
consistent with the new reqguirements. These entities will not be affected by
the amendments.

These amendments include reqguirements for sale and leaseback
transactions in IFRS 16 to explain how an entity accounts for a sale and
leaseback after the date of the transaction. Sale and leaseback transactions
where some or all the lease payments are variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are most likely to be impacted.

Effective
Date
1January
2023

1January
2023

1January
2023

1January
2024
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Notes to consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

(Currency - Thousands of UAE. Dirhams)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ("IFRS")

(continued)

2.2 New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet effective and not early adopted (continued)

New and Key requirements Effective
revised IFRS Date
Sale or The IASB has made limited scope amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated n/a™**

contribution of

assets between
an investor and
its associate or
joint venture -

Amendments to
[FRS 10 and IAS

28

financial statements and |IAS 28 [nvestments in associates and joint
ventures.

The amendments clarify the accounting treatment for sales or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associates or joint ventures. They
confirm that the accounting treatment depends on whether the non-
monetary assets sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture
constitute a 'business’ (as defined in IFRS 2 Business Combinations).

Where the non-monetary assets constitute a business, the investor will
recognise the full gain or loss on the sale or contribution of assets. If the
assets do not meet the definition of a business, the gain or loss is
recognised by the investor only to the extent of the other investor's interests
in the associate or joint venture. The amendments apply prospectively.

**In December 2015 the IASB decided to defer the application date of this
amendment until such time as the IASB has finalised its research project on
the equity method.

The Group is currently assessing the impact of these standards, interpretations and amendments on the future
financial statements and intends to adopt these, if applicable, when they become effective. There are no other
relevant applicable new standards and amendments to published standards or IFRIC interpretations that have
been issued but are not effective for the first time for the Group's financial year beginning on 1 January 2023 that
would be expected to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

(Currency - Thousands of UAE. Dirhams)
3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with IFRS and
applicable provisions of Federal Law No 32 of 2021, as amended of the United Arab Emirates. The consolidated
financial statements are presented in thousands of United Arab Emirates Dirhams since that is the currency of
the country in which the parent (ADFG), is domiciled and the majority of the Group's business is transacted.

Federal Decree Law No. 26 of 2020 which amends certain provisions of Federal Law No. 2 of 2015 as amended
on Commercial Companies was issued on 27 September 2020 and the amendments came into effect on 2
January 2021. The Company has reviewed the new provisions and applied the requirements during the period.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost convention as modified for the
measurement at fair value of certain financial instruments. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for assets. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique.

3.2 Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries are those investees that the Group controls because the Group (i) has power to direct relevant
activities of the investees that significantly affect their returns, (i) has exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investees, and (iii) has the ability to use its power over the investees to affect the amount
of investor's returns. The existence and effect of substantive rights, including substantive potential voting rights,
are considered when assessing whether the Group has power over another entity. For a right to be substantive,
the holder must have practical ability to exercise that right when decisions about the direction of the relevant
activities of the investee need to be made. The Group may have power over an investee even when it holds less
than majority of voting power in an investee. In such a case, the Group assesses the size of its voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders to determine if it has de-facto power
over the investee. Protective rights of other investors, such as those that relate to fundamental changes of
investee's activities or apply only in exceptional circumstances, do not prevent the Group from controlling an
investee. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Croup and are
deconsolidated from the date on which control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in o business combination are measured at their fair
values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interest.

Non-controlling interest is that part of the net results and of the equity of a subsidiary attributable to interests
which are not owned, directly or indirectly, by the Group. The Croup measures non-controlling interest on a
transaction by transaction basis at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of net assets of the
acquiree. Non-controlling interest forms a separate component of the Group's equity.

Goodwill is measured by deducting the net assets of the acquiree from the aggregate of the consideration
transferred for the acquiree, the amount of non-controlling interest in the acquiree and fair value of an interest
in the acquiree held immediately before the acquisition date. Any negative amount ("negative goodwill”) is
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss, after management reassesses whether it identified all
the assets acquired and all liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed, and reviews appropriateness of their
measurement.

The consideration transferred for the acquiree is measured at the fair value of the assets given up, equity
instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed, including fair value of assets or liabilities from contingent
consideration arrangements, but excludes acquisition related costs such as advisory, legal, valuation and similar
professional services. Transaction costs incurred for issuing equity instruments are deducted from equity;
transaction costs incurred forissuing debt are deducted from its carrying amount and all other transaction costs
associated with the acquisition are expensed.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the cost cannot be recovered. ADFG and all of its
subsidiaries use uniform accounting policies consistent with the Group's policies.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Basis of consolidation (continued)

The entities included in the consolidation may vary year on year due to both the restructuring of the Croup
(including acquisitions and disposals) and changes to the number and net assets of pooled investment vehicles
managed by the Group where the shareholding in the year results in control, as defined by IFRS. In such cases,
the investment vehicle is consolidated, and the third-party interest is normally recorded as a financial liability.
The treatment continues until the Group loses control, as defined by IFRS.

The significant accounting policies are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to each of
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

3.3 Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance expenses are charged to profit or
loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is charged to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method on the following basis:

Years
Leasehold improvements 110
Office equipment 3-5
Motor vehicle 5
Furniture and fixtures 3-5
Buildings 40
Right-of-use asset Lease term

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed at each year end, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

34 Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units
for which o reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
lossis recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant assetis carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

34 Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase. The excesses of the impairment over the revaluation
reserve goes to the income statement

3.5 Finance cost

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period during which they are incurred. Borrowing costs
which are directly attributable to the development of a qualifying asset are capitalised. Interest is calculated
using the effective interest method is recognised in profit or loss and is included in ‘'Finance cost. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

3.6 Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of work in progress includes overheads
appropriated to the stage of development. Net realisable value is based upon estimated selling prices less
further costs expected to be incurred on completion and disposal.

3.7 Income statement presentation policy

The Croup will recognise under the Other Income financial statement line item, income from business
transactions including step-up acquisitions or step-down disposals and other operating income related to the
operating activities of the business.

Profit / (loss) from impairment of intangibles and finance cost section of the consolidated income statement
will include impairment of intangible assets recognised during the financial period.

3.8 Revenue recognition

Net fee and commission income
Feeincomeisearned from adiverse range of services provided by the Group to its customers and are accounted
for in accordance with IFRS 15 'Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Under the IFRS 15, fee income is
measured by the Group based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and excludes
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control over a
product or service to a customer.

Fee income is accounted for as follows:

0) income earned on the execution of a significant act is recognised as revenue when the act is completed
(for example, fees arising from negotiating, or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a
third-party, such as an arrangement for the acquisition of shares or other securities);

(i) income earned from the provision of services is recognised as revenue as the services are provided (for
example, asset management, portfolio and other management advisory and service fees), and

(iii) other fees and commission income and expense are recognised as the related services are performed
or received.

In the Revenue financial statement line item, fee and commission income will be presented net of the incurred
fee and commission expenses incurred as part of the rendered service or contract with customer.

Advisory income
Advisory income includes retainer and consultancy fees. It is accrued and recognised as the services are

rendered, in accordance with the agreement with the client. Revenue is recognised only when it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group. Revenue from services is stated
net of rebates and other allowances.

Interest income
Interestincome is accrued on a time proportion basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and the effective
interest rate applicable.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.8 Revenue recognition (continued)

Carried interest

The Croup is entitled to receive performance fees (“carried interest”) from qualified funds which it manages.
These fees are earned once the funds meet certain performance conditions. The carried interest is calculated
annually at the reporting date as per the guidance provided by IFRS 15, taking into account the required
performance conditions and distribution arrangement. Carried interest recognised by the Group is subject to a
constraint. The Group recognises revenue at an amount for which it is highly probable that a significant reversal
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur in future periods.

The Group's employees are entitled to performance incentives linked to the realised Internal Rate of Return set
for certain qualified funds, which vest progressively, subject to continued employment and the investment exit,
provided certain minimum pre-established return hurdles are satisfied. These are recognised as carried interest
expense.

Income from finance lease
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of financial
assets, except for:

a) Purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) financial assets, for which the original credit-adjusted
effective interest rate is applied to the amortized cost of the financial asset.

b) Financial assets that are not 'POCI" but have subseqguently become credit-impaired (or 'stage 3, for which
interest revenue is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to their amortized cost (i.e, net of the
expected credit loss)

Processing fee

Processing fees and other operating income represent administration fees which include leases initiation and
customer risk assessment Processing fee income is recognized over the period of the lease using the effective
rate method, which results in a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment outstanding.

Dividend income
Dividend income from investments is recognised when the Croup's right to receive payment has been
established.

3.9 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, itis probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received
and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

3.10 Employee benefits

A provision is made for the full amount of end of service benefits due to non-UAE national employees in
accordance with the Group's policy, which is at least equal to the benefits payable in accordance with UAE
Labour Law, for their period of service up to the end of the reporting period.

Pension contributions are made in respect of UAE national employees to the UAE General Pension and Social
Security Authority in accordance with the UAE Federal Law No (9) of 2000 for Pension and Social Security. Such
contributions are charged to profit or loss during the employees’ period of service.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.1 Foreign currencies

The functional currency of each of the Group's consolidated entities is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates. The functional currency of ADFG and the Group's presentation currency
is the UA.E Dirhams (AED).

Transactions in currencies other than AED (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated. Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

The results and financial position of each group entity are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

)] assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing
rate at the end of the respective reporting period;
i income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a

reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions);

i) components of equity are translated at the historic rate; and

iv) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

When control over a foreign operation is lost, the exchange differences previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year as part of the
gain or loss on disposal. On partial disposal of a subsidiary without loss of control, the related portion of
accumulated currency translation differences is reclassified to non-controlling interest within equity. Goodwill
and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

3.12 Financial instruments

Financial instruments comprise of financial assets and financial liabilities that are recognised in the Group's
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Initial recognition - financial assets

Financial instruments at Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL) are initially recorded at fair value. All other
financial instruments are initially recorded at fair value adjusted for transaction costs. Fair value at initial
recognition is best evidenced by the transaction price. A gain or loss on initial recognition is only recorded if
there is a difference between fair value and transaction price which can be evidenced by other observable
current market transactions in the same instrument or by a valuation technigue whose inputs include only data
from observable markets. After the initial recognition, an Expected Credit Loss (ECL) allowance is recognised for
financial assets measured at Amortised Cost (AC) and investments in debt instruments measured at Fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), resulting in an immediate accounting loss.

All purchases and sales of financial assets that require delivery within the time frame established by regulation
or market convention (‘regular way” purchases and sales) are recorded at trade date, which is the date on which
the Croup commits to deliver a financial asset. All other purchases are recognised when the entity becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
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3.12 Financial instruments (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The best evidence of fair value is price in
an active market. An active market is one in which transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient
frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. Fair value of financial instruments
traded in an active market is measured as the product of the quoted price for the individual asset or liability
and the quantity held by the entity. This is the case even if a market's normal daily trading volume is not sufficient
to absorb the quantity held and placing orders to sell the position in a single transaction might affect the
quoted price.

Computation of fair value is based on valuation techniques such as discounted cash flow models or models
based on recent arm’s length transactions or consideration of financial data of the investees, are used to
measure fair value of certain financial instruments for which external market pricing information is not available.
Fair value measurements are analysed by level in the fair value hierarchy as follows: (i) level one are
measurements at quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, (ii) level two
measurements are valuations techniques with all material inputs observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices), and (iii) level three measurements are
valuations not based on solely observable market data (that is, the measurement requires significant
unobservable inputs). Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are deemed to have occurred at the
end of the reporting period (Note 24.1).

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a
financial instrument. An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the transaction had not
taken place. Transaction costs include fees and commissions paid to agents (including employees acting as
selling agents), advisors, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and securities exchanges, and
transfer taxes and duties. Transaction costs do not include debt premiums or discounts, financing costs or
internal administrative or holding costs. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, oninitial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Classification- financial assets

Financial assets can either be (i) equity financial assets or (i) debt financial assets. The Group classifies financial
assets in the following measurement categories: FVTPL, FVOCI and AC. The classification depends on (i) the
Group's business model for managing the related assets portfolio and (ii) the cash flow characteristics of the
asset.

The business model reflects how the Group manages the assets in order to generate cash flows — whether the
Group's objective is: (i) solely to collect the contractual cash flows from the assets ("hold to collect contractual
cash flows") or (ii) to collect both the contractual cash flows and the cash flows arising from the sale of assets
("hold to collect contractual cash flows and sell”) or, if neither of (i) and (i) is applicable, the financial assets are
classified as part of “other” business model and measured at FVTPL.

The business model is determined for a group of assets (on a portfolio level) based on all relevant evidence
about the activities that the Group undertakes to achieve the objective set out for the portfolio available at the
date of the assessment. Factors considered by the Group in determining the business model include the purpose
and composition of a portfolio, past experience on how the cash flows for the respective assets were collected,
how risks are assessed and managed, how the assets’ performance is assessed and how managers are
compensated. Note 4.1 includes critical judgements applied by the Group in determining the business models
for its financial assets.

Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to hold contractual cash flows
and sell, the Group assesses whether the cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest ("SPPI").
In making this assessment, the Group considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic
lending arrangement, i.e. interest includes only consideration for credit risk, time value of money, other basic
lending risks and profit margin.
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3.12 Financial instruments (continued)

Classification- financial assets (continued)

Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that is inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangement, the financial asset is classified and measured at FVTPL The SPPI assessment is performed on
initial recognition of an asset and it is not subsequently reassessed. Note 4.1 includes for critical judgements
applied by the Croup in performing the SPPI test for its financial assets.

Debt financial assets that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order
to collect contractual cash flows; and
. the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt financial assets that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at FVOCH

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and
. the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

In addition, debt financial assets that meet either the amortised cost criteria or the FVOCI criteria may be
designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
meadsurement or recognition inconsistency (so called ‘accounting mismatch’) that would arise from measuring
assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases.

By default, all other financial assets (debt and equity financial assets) are measured subseqguently at fair value
through profit or loss (FVTPL).

Despite the foregoing, the Group may make the following irrevocable election/designation at initial recognition
for an equity financial asset:

° the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in
other comprehensive income if certain criteria are met; and
° the Group may irrevocably designate a debtinvestment that meets the amortised cost or FVOCI criteria

as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Subsequent measurement - financial assets

For purposes of subsequent measurement

. Financial assets at AC (debt financial assets): Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss (P&L) when the asset is derecognised, modified
or impaired.

° For assets that are purchased or originated credit impaired ("POCI") at initial recognition, the effective
interest rate is adjusted for credit risk, i.e. it is calculated based on the expected cash flows on initial
recognition instead of contractual payments.

° Financial assets at FVOCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt financial assets): For debt
instruments at FVOC], interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses or reversals
are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and computed in the same manner as
for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised in
consolidated statement of other comprehensive income (OCI). Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair
value change recognised in OClis recycled to P&L.
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3.12 Financial instruments (continued)

Subsequent measurement - financial assets (continued)

° Financial assets designated at fair value through OCl with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses
upon derecognition (equity financial assets): Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity instruments designated at fair value through OCl when they
meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments. Presentation and are not held for
trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis. Gains and losses on
these financial assets are never recycled to P&L. Dividends are recognised as other income in P&L when
the right of payment has been established, except when the CGroup benefits from such proceeds as a
recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCl. Equity
instruments designated at FVOC! are not subject to impairment assessment.

) Financial assets at FVTPL (debt and equity financial assets): Financial assets at FVTPL are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in P&L. Dividends
on listed equity investments are recognised as other income in the P&L when the right of payment has
been established. Interest income on debt financial assets is also recognised in the P&L

Impdgirment - financial assets

Measurement of ECL: IFRS @ outlines a 'three-stage’ model for impairment of financial assets based on changes
in credit quality since initial recognition. A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition
is classified in Stage 1. Financial assets in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the portion
of lifetime ECL that results from default events possible within the next 12 months or until contractual maturity, if
shorter (12 Months ECL"). If the Group identifies a significant increase in credit risk (‘'SICR") since initial recognition,
the asset is transferred to Stage 2 and its ECL is measured based on ECL on a lifetime basis, that is, up until
contractual maturity but considering expected prepayments, if any (‘Lifetime ECL"). If the Group determines that
a financial assetis credit-impaired, the asset is transferred to Stage 3 and its ECL is measured as a Lifetime ECL
Note 4.1 includes how the Group determines when a SICR has occurred. Note 4.1 also provides information about
inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used in measuring ECL, including an explanation of how the
Group incorporates forward-looking information in the ECL models.

The Croup considers a financial asset to have experienced SICR when a significant change in one year
probability of default occurs between the origination date of a specific facility and the IFRS ¢ ECL run date. In
addition, a range of qualitative criteria are also considered.

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of the following variables:
. probability of default (PD);

. loss given default (LCD);

° exposure at default (EAD)

These parameters are generally derived from internally developed statistical models and other historical data.
They are adjusted to reflect forward-looking information. Details of these statistical parameters/inputs are as
follows:

PD - The probability of default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon.

EAD - The exposure at default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account
expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date.

LGD - The loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given
time. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender
would expect to receive, including from the realisation of any collateral. It is usually expressed as a
percentage of the EAD.

ECL Expected credit losses are probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as
follows:

e financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all
cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

e financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the
gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows; and

e financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any
amounts that the Group expects to recover.
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3.12 Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment - financial assets (continued)

The Group applies three-stage model forimpairment, based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition
to recognise loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on the following financial instruments that are not
measured at FVTPL:

. loans and advances and other financial assets including finance leases;

financial assets that are debt investments;

financial guarantee contracts; and

trade receivables and contract assets included in receivables and debit balances.

No impairment loss is recognised on equity investments.

For financial assets that are purchased or originated credit-impaired ("POCI Assets”), the ECL is always
measured as a Lifetime ECL.

For trade receivables or contract assets that do not contain a significant financing component, the Group
records loss allowance at initial recognition and throughout its life at an amount equal to Lifetime ECL.

Financial assets measured at AC are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position net of the
allowance for ECL. For financial assets at FVOC], changes in amortised cost, net of allowance for ECL, are
recognised in P&L and other changes in carrying value are recognised in OCI.

Al each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt
financial assets carried at FYOCI are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit impaired’ when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

] significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
] a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;
] the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider
otherwise;
itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
. the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

Write-off - financial assets

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, eg. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any
recoveries made are recognised in P&L.

Derecognition - financial assets

The Group derecognises financial assets when (a) the assets are redeemed or the rights to cash flows from the
assets otherwise expired or (b) the Group has transferred the rights to the cash flows from the financial assets
or entered into a qualifying pass-through arrangement while (i) also transferring substantially all risks and
rewards of ownership of the assets or (ii) neither transferring nor retaining substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership, but not retaining control. Control is retained if the counterparty does not have the practical ability
to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party without needing to impose restrictions on the sale.

Modification - financial assets

The Croup sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual terms of the financial assets. The
Group assesses whether the modification of contractual cash flows is substantial considering, among other, the
following factors: any new contractual terms that substantially affect the risk profile of the asset, significant
change in interest rate, change in the currency denomination, new collateral or credit enhancement that
significantly affects the credit risk associated with the asset or a significant extension of a loan when the
borrower is not in financial difficulties. The contractual terms of a lease receivable are mainly modified at the
request of the customer. An existing lease receivable whose terms have been modified may be derecognized
and the renegotiated lease receivable recognized as a new investment in Islamic financing at fair value.
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Modification - financial assets (continued)

If the modified terms are substantially different, the rights to cash flows from the original asset expire and the
Group derecognises the original financial asset and recognises a new asset at its fair value. The date of
renegotiation is considered to be the date of initial recognition for subsequent impairment calculation
purposes, including determining whether a SICR has occurred. The Group also assesses whether the new loan
or debt instrument meets the SPPI criterion. Any difference between the carrying amount of the original asset
derecognised and fair value of the new substantially modified asset is recognised in profit or loss, unless the
substance of the difference is attributed to a capital transaction with owners.

In a situation where the renegotiation was driven by financial difficulties of the counterparty and inability to
make the originally agreed payments, the Group compares the original and revised expected cash flows to
assets whether the risks and rewards of the asset are substantially different as o result of the contractual
modification. If the risks and rewards do not change, the modified asset is not substantially different from the
original asset and the modification does not result in derecognition.

The Group recalculates the gross carrying amount by discounting the modified contractual cash flows by the
original effective interest rate (or credit-adjusted effective interest rate for POCI financial assets), and recognises

a modification gain or loss in profit or loss.

Initial recognition and classification - financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case borrowings and other financial
liabilities, net of directly attributable transaction costs. Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at FVTPL or financial liabilities at AC.

Subsequent measurement - financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at FVTPL: Financial liabilities at FVTPL include financial liabilities held for trading and
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at FVTPL including contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination and financial guarantee contracts. Financial liabilities are
classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category
also includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IFRS 9. Cains or losses on liabilities held for trading are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at FVTPL
are designated at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. The Group has not
designated any financial liability as at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in fair value related to own
credit risk are recognized in OCI.

Financial liabilities at AC: Financial liabilities at AC are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR
method. Gains and losses are recognised in P&L when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR
amortisation process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance
costs in the P&L.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with
the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and, if not designated as at
FVTPL and do not arise from a transfer of an asset, are measured subsequently at the higher of:

. the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9 (see financial assets above);
and
° the amount recognised initially less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in

accordance with the revenue recognition policies set out above.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.12 Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or they expire.

An exchange between the Croup and its original lenders of debt instruments with substantially different terms,
as well as substantial modifications of the terms and conditions of existing financial liabilities, are accounted
for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. The
terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including
any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10%
different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. If an
exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees
incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. If the exchange or modification is not
accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and
are amortised over the remaining term of the modified liability.

Modifications of liabilities that do not result in extinguishment are accounted for as a change in estimate using
a cumulative catch up method, with any gain or loss recognised in profit or loss, unless the economic substance

of the difference in carrying values is attributed to a capital transaction with owners.

Payables to unit holders

Payable to unit holders mainly comprise liabilities that arise from obligations in respect of third-party interests
in consolidated funds. Consolidation occurs when the Group is deemed to control a fund. When a fund is
consolidated, the Group accounts for the fund in its consolidated statement of financial position as if it were
wholly-owned by the Group, but records an additional liability representing the proportion of the fund owned
by third party investors, where the units in the fund are puttable instruments (i.e. not classified as equity). The
units of Goldilocks Investment Company Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, are redeemable at the unit holders’
option and therefore the Group has classified the units held by third parties as a financial liability.

Profit/(Loss) for the fund attributable to these third-party holders of units is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as (finance cost)/finance credit relating to unit holders carried at fair value.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps to
hedge its foreign currency risks and interest rate risks, respectively. The Group’s risk management strategy and
how it is applied to manage risk are explained in Note 25.

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as financial assets when

the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value is negative.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

. Fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or
liability or an unrecognised firm commitment.
. Cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to

a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction
or the foreign currency risk in an unrecognised firm commitment.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedge relationship
to which it wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking
the hedge. The documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item, the nature of
the risk being hedged and how the Group will assess whether the hedging relationship meets the hedge
effectiveness requirements (including the analysis of sources of hedge ineffectiveness and how the hedge ratio
is determined).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.12 Financial instruments (continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)

A hedging relationship qualifies for hedge accounting if it meets all of the following effectiveness requirements:

. There is 'an economic relationship’ between the hedged item and the hedging instrument.

. The effect of credit risk does not 'dominate the value changes' that result from that economic
relationship.

. The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the

hedged item that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the Croup
actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item.

Hedges that meet all the qualifying criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for, as described below:

Fair value hedges: The change in the fair value of a hedging instrument is recognised in P&L as other
income/expense. The change in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to the risk hedged is recorded as
part of the carrying value of the hedged item and is also recognised in the P&L as other income/expense.

Cash flow hedges: The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in OClin the
cash flow hedge reserve, while any ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the statement of profit or
loss. The cash flow hedge reserve is adjusted to the lower of the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging
instrument and the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item. The Group uses forward currency
contracts as hedges of its exposure to foreign currency risk in forecast transactions and firm commitments. The
ineffective portion relating to foreign currency contracts is recognised as other income/expense. The CGroup
designates only the spot element of forward contracts as a hedging instrument. The forward element is
recognised in OCl and accumulated in a separate component of equity under cash flow hedge reserve.

The amounts accumulated in OCl are accounted for, depending on the nature of the underlying hedged
transaction. If the hedged transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial item, the amount
accumulated in equity is removed from the separate component of equity and included in the initial cost or
other carrying amount of the hedged asset or liability. This is not a reclassification adjustment and will not be
recognised in OCI for the period. This also applies where the hedged forecast transaction of a non-financial
asset or non-financial liability subsequently becomes a firm commitment for which fair value hedge accounting
is applied.

For any other cash flow hedges, the amount accumulated in OCl is reclassified to P&L as a reclassification
adjustment in the same period or periods during which the hedged cash flows affect profit or loss. If cash flow
hedge accounting is discontinued, the amount that has been accumulated in OCI must remain in accumulated
OCl if the hedged future cash flows are still expected to occur. Otherwise, the amount will be immediately
reclassified to P&L as a reclassification adjustment. After discontinuation, once the hedged cash flow occurs, any
amount remaining in accumulated OCI must be accounted for depending on the nature of the underlying
transaction as described above.

For hedges that do not qualify for hedge accounting, any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of the hedging instrument are taken directly to the income statement for the year.

The effective interest method is a method of allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant
period, so as to achieve a constant periodic rate of interest (effective interest rate) on the carrying amount. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (excluding
future credit losses) through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, if appropriate, to
the gross carrying amount of the financial instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
allits liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Share capital: Ordinary shares with discretionary dividends are classified as equity. Any excess of the fair value
of consideration received over the par value of shares issued is recorded as share premium in equity.
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3.13 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of consolidated statement of cash flows consist of cash and short-
term deposits with original maturity of 90 days or less, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered
an integral part of the Group's cash management.

314 Investment in associates

The Croup's investments in associates are accounted for under the equity method of accounting. An associate
is an entity in which the Group has significant influence, and which is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a
joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of
the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies. Under the equity method, an investment in an
associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate.
The Group will perform a notional purchase price allocation ('PPA") assessment within 12 months from the date
of acquisition.

When the Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. Any excess
of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of an associate recognised at the date of acqguisition is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The requirements of IFRS 9 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss
with respect to the Group's investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with |AS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

Upon disposal of an associate that results in the Group losing significant influence over that associate, any
retained investment is measured at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on
initial recognition as a financial asset in accordance with IFRS 9. The difference between the previous carrying
amount of the associate attributable to the retained interest and its fair value is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the same basis as would be required
if that associate had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as
a reclassification adjustment) when it loses significant influence over that associate.

315 Leases

Group as a Lessor

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group's net
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant
periodic rate of return on the Group's net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount
of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.15 Leases (continued)

ljara receivables

ljara finance is an agreement wherein gross amounts due under originated ljara (finance) includes the total of
future payments on ljara finance, plus estimated residual amounts receivable (by an option to purchase the
asset at the end of the respective financing term through an independent sale contract). The difference between
the ljara contracts receivable and the cost of the ljara assets is recorded as unearned ljara finance income and
for presentation purposes, is deducted from the gross amounts due under ljara finance.

Group as a Lessee

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. The
Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

The Croup recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (ie, the date the underlying
asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. At the commencement date of the
lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over
the lease term.

3.16 Goodwill

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held interest in the acquiree
(if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain or negative goodwill.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of
the business less accumulated impairment losses, if any. For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. On disposal of the relevant
cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss
on disposal.

3.17 Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that
are acquired separately.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
useful lives are amortised on a straight-line basis over the intangible asset's estimated useful lives over the
following periods:

Customer Relationships and Contracts 1-21years
Trademark 15 - 20 years
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3.17 Intangible assets acquired in a business combination (continued)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (Trade licenses) are not amortised but are tested for impairment
annually at the cash-generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine
whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to definite
is made on a prospective basis.

3.18 Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the entity's net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another IFRS.

3.19 Non-current assets classified as held for sale and discontinued operations

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale when their carrying amount is to be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than continuing use and ¢ sale is considered highly probable. They are stated
at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Impairment losses on initial classification as held
for sale and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

The financial results of non-current assets classified as held for sale that meet the definition of a discontinued
operation are presented as a single line in the statement of profit or loss and statement of cash flows.

3.20 Segmental information

Operating segments are components that engage in business activities that may earn revenues or incur
expenses, whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker (CODM), and
for which discrete financial information is available. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Chief
Executive Officer (CEO) of SHUAA.

3.21 Treasury shares

Where the Company or its subsidiaries purchase SHUAA equity instruments, the consideration paid, including
any directly attributable incremental external costs, net of income taxes, is deducted from equity attributable
to the Owners until the equity instruments are reissued, disposed of or cancelled. Where such shares are
subsequently disposed of or reissued, any consideration received is included in equity.

3.22 Assets and liabilities held for sale

Assets and liabilities held for sale are recognised in accordance with the criteria set out in IFRS 5. The Group
determines the realisable value of assets in their current condition, where a sale is highly probable and the
expected settlement value for its liabilities held for sale. "Assets held for sale” and “Liabilities held for sale” are
measured in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 5 "Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations”.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
41 Critical judgement in applying Group's accounting policies

While applying the accounting policies as stated in note 3, management of the Group has made certain
judgments, estimates and assumptions that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revision to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period of the revision in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods. The significant judgments and estimates made by management that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are:
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Business model assessment

Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on the results of the SPPI and the business model
test. The Croup determines the business model at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are
managed together to achieve a particular business objective. This assessment includes judgement reflecting all
relevant evidence including how the performance of the assets is evaluated and their performance measured,
the risks that affect the performance of the assets and how these are managed and how the managers of the
assets are compensated. The Group monitors financial assets measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income that are derecognised prior to their maturity to understand the reason for their
disposal and whether the reasons are consistent with the objective of the business for which the asset was held.
Monitoring is part of the Group's continuous assessment of whether the business model for which the remaining
financial assets are held continues to be appropriate and if it is not appropriate whether there has been a
change in business model and so o prospective change to the classification of those assets. No such changes
were required during the periods presented.

Assessment of Significant Increase in Credit Risk

The assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is done on a relative basis. To assess whether the credit
risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since origination, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring over the expected life of the financial asset at the reporting date to the corresponding risk of default
at origination, using key risk indicators that are used in the Group’s existing risk management processes. The
Group assessment of significantincreases in credit risk is being performed at least quarterly for exposures based
on three factors. If any of the following factors indicates that a significant increase in credit risk has occurred,
the instrument will be moved from Stage 1 to Stage 2:

] The Group has established thresholds for significant increases in credit risk based on movement in days
past due (DPD) (Level of Delinguency) relative to initial recognition.

. Additional qualitative reviews have been performed to assess the staging results and make
adjustments, as necessary, to better reflect the positions which have significantly increased in risk.

. IFRS 9 contains a rebuttable presumption that instruments which are 30 days past due have

experienced a significant increase in credit risk.
Carried interest

The Group is entitled to receive performance fees ("carried interest”) from qualified funds which it manages.
These fees are earned once the funds meet certain performance conditions. The Group recognises carried
interest to the amount for which it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur in future periods.

Consolidation - Control assessment

Determining whether the Croup has control over an investee is judgmental and involves a critical assessment
of the purpose and design of an investee, nature of rights - substantive or protective in nature, assessment of
existing and potential voting rights, whether an investor is a principal or agent when exercising its controlling
power, relationships between investors and how they affect control and existence of power over specified assets
only. The Croup critically assesses the overall relationship between the decision-maker and other parties
involved with the investee to determine whether the decision-maker acts as an agent. The Group continuously
monitors if there are any changes in the composition of the Group and consequently reassesses control if facts
and circumstances indicate that any of the elements have changed including an assessment of the variability
of returns.

Consolidation of entities in which the Group holds less than a majority of voting right (de facto control)

Judgement is required to determine whether the substance of the relationship between the Group and an
investee when the Group held less than a majority of voting rights. The Group consolidates investees that it
controls. As it can sometimes be difficult to determine whether the Group does control an investee, management
makes judgements about its exposure to the risks and rewards, as well as about its ability to make operational
decisions for the investee in question. In many instances, elements are present that, considered in isolation,
indicate control or lack of control over an investee, but when considered together make it difficult to reach a
clear conclusion. In cases where more arguments are in place towards existence of control, the investee entity
is consolidated. Refer note 1(ii) where management made critical judgement in assessing the relationship with
its investees in which it holds less than a majority of voting right.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)
41 Critical judgement in applying Group’s accounting policies (continued)

Treatment as associates of entities in which the Group holds less than 20% of voting rights

Determine whether the group exercises significant influence over an investee in which the Group holds less than
20% of voting rights is judgmental and involves a critical assessment. As it can sometimes be difficult to
determine whether the Group has significant influence over an investee, management makes judgements about
its ability to influence the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee. In many instances, elements
are present that, considered in isolation, indicate significant influence or lack of significant influence over an
investee, but when considered together make it difficult to reach a clear conclusion. In cases where more
arguments are in place towards existence of significant influence, the investee entity is recorded as an
investment in associate.

Coing concern

Management has made an assessment of the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied
that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, management
is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements continue to be prepared on the going
concern basis.

4.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Calculation of ECL

Measurement of ECL is a significant estimate that involves determination of methodology, models and data
inputs.

Macroeconomic Factors, Forward Looking Information (FLI) and Multiple Scenarios: The measurement of
expected credit losses for each stage and the assessment of significant increases in credit risk considers
information about past events and current conditions as well as reasonable and supportable forecasts of future
events and economic conditions. The estimation and application of forward-looking information require
significant judgement.

PD, LGD and EAD inputs used to estimate Stage 1 and Stage 2 credit loss allowances are modelled based on
the macroeconomic variables (or changes in macroeconomic variables) that are most closely correlated with
credit losses in the relevant portfolio. Each macroeconomic scenario used in ECL calculation has forecasts of the
relevant macroeconomic variables.

The Group estimation of ECL in Stage 1 and Stage 2 is a discounted probability weighted estimate that considers
a minimum of three future macroeconomic scenarios namely base case, upside and downside.

The Group's base case scenario is based on macroeconomic variable (oil price). The macro-economic variable
(oil price) was selected on the basis of business intuition and statistical analysis performed. Upside and
downside scenarios are set relative to the Group’s base case scenario based on reasonably possible alternative
macroeconomic conditions. Scenario design, including the identification of additional downside scenarios occur
on at least an annual basis and more frequently if conditions warrant. Scenarios are probability-weighted
according to the Group's best estimate of their relative likelihood based on historical frequency and current
trends and conditions. Probability weights are updated on a quarterly basis. All scenarios considered are
applied to all portfolios subject to ECL with the same probabilities. Sensitivity assessment due to movement in
each macroeconomic variable and the respective weights under the three scenarios is periodically assessed by
the Group. In some instances, the inputs and models used for calculating ECLs may not always capture all
characteristics of the market at the date of the financial reporting. To reflect this, qualitative adjustments or
overlays are occasionally made as temporary adjustments when such differences are significantly material.
Such cases are subjected to the Group's Governance process for oversight.
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4.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Calculation of ECL (continued)

The definition of default used in the measurement of expected credit losses and the assessment to determine
movement between stages is consistent with the definition of default used for internal credit risk management
purposes. IFRS 9 does not define default, but contains a rebuttable presumption that default has occurred when
an exposure is greater than 90 days past due.

Expected Life: When measuring ECL, the Group considers maximum contractual period over which it is exposed
to credit risk. All contractual terms are considered when determining the expected life, including prepayment
options and extension and rollover options. For certain revolving credit facilities that do not have a fixed
maturity, the expected life is estimated based on the period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk and
where the credit losses would not be mitigated by management actions.

Fair value measurement of financial assets at FVTPL and FVTOC|

Fair values for the Group's financial assets at FVTPL and FVTOCI (level 3) are measured using market or income
approaches. Considerable judgment may be required in developing estimates of fair value, particularly for
financial instruments classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy as such estimates incorporate market
unobservable inputs that require management to use its own assumptions. The Group's valuation techniques
for Level 3 financial instruments remained unchanged in 2022.

The uncertainty in those assumptions have been incorporated into the Group's valuations of Level 3 financial
instruments primarily through updated cash flows and discount rate, as applicable. See note 241 for details of
the Group's Level 3 financial instruments. Additional volatility in the fair values of Level 3 financial instruments
may arise in future periods if actual results differ materially from the company's estimates. If no market data is
available, the Croup may value its investments using its own models, which are usually based on valuation
methods and technigues generally recognised as standard within the industry, such as the Discounted Cash
Flow (DCF) and Net Asset Value (NAV) method, in which case the Group would exercise judgement and estimates
on the quantity and quality of the cash flows and fair values, respectively, of the underlying investment.

In performing the fair value measurement, the Group selects inputs that are consistent with the characteristics
of the financial asset that market participants would take into account in a transaction for that asset. In some
cases, those characteristics result in the application of an adjustment, such as a control premium or non-
controlling interest discount. The Group incorporates a premium or discount only when it is consistent with the
unit of account for the investment.

Impairment assessment on investment using equity accounting

The Group assesses the impairment of investments accounted for using the equity method whenever triggering
events or changes in circumstances indicate that an investment may be impaired and carrying value may not
be recoverable in accordance with the prescribed impairment indicators as per IAS 36. The Group measures the
impairment based on a projected future cash flow of the investees, including the underlying assumptions
provided by such investees' internal management team. The Croup also takes into account market conditions
and the relevant industry trends to ensure the reasonableness of such assumptions.

Impairment of goodwill

On an annual basis, the Group determines whether goodwill is impaired. This requires an estimation of the
recoverable amount using value in use of the cash generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash generating units taking into account all conditions existing as at the end of reporting period and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Disposal of subsididary in exchange for an interest in an associate

As per IFRS 10 when the Croup will dispose of a subsidiary in exchange for interest in an associate, the Group
will first account for the loss of control in the subsidiary recognizing the gain or loss of the transaction.
Subsequent to the derecognition of the subsidiary the Croup will recognise the interest in investment in
associate as per IAS 28.
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(Currency - Thousands of UAE. Dirhams)
5 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

For management purpose the Group is organized into three operating segments, all of which are based on
business units:

Asset Management unit manages real estate funds and projects, investment portfolios and funds in the
regional equities, fixed income and credit markets. It also provides investment solutions to clients with a focus
on alternative investment strategies.

Investment banking unit provides corporate finance advisory, transaction services, private placement, public
offerings of equity and debt securities and structured products. It also creates market liquidity on OTC fixed
income products.

Corporate unit manages principal investments, non-core assets, corporate developments, treasury and other
shared services related to the Group.
31 December 2022
Asset Investment

Management Banking Corporate Total
Net fee and commission income 147,114 2,475 101,489 251,078
Advisory income - 6,078 - 6,078
Net interest income - - 198 198
Trading income - 7,305 (29) 7,276
Other operating income - - 1,307 1,307
Total revenues 147,114 15,858 102,965 265,937
Staff costs (72,813) (12,877) (58,386) (144,076)
Employee carried interest (5,543) - - (5,543)
General and administrative expenses (23,476) (5,826) (29,295) (58,597)
Depreciation and amortization (18,982) (4,274) (4,655) (27,911)
Provision for impairment losses on financial (12,203) (12,203)
instruments
Other operating expenses (127,055) (375) 62,951 (64,479)
Total expenses (247,869) (23,352) (41,588) (312,809)
(Loss)/profit before other income and finance cost (100,755) (7,494) 61,377 (46,872)
(2,940) (577) (124,615) (128,132)
Fair value losses from investments
Gain from derivative financial liability 1,883 1,883
Share of loss from investment in associates 156,863 156,863
Finance cost (8,679) (2,353) (98,639) (109,671)
Finance cost relating to unit holders 16,410 16,410
Other income 41,899 1,135 76,584 119,618
(Loss)/profit for the year from continuing operations (70,475) (9,289) 89,863 10,099
Loss for the year from discontinued operations - - (132,596) (132,596)
Profit/(loss)for the year attributable to NCI 31,956 (44,663) (12,707)
Loss for the year attributable to Owners (38,519) (9,289) (87,396) (135,204)
Revenue generated from external customer (fee & 147,114 2,475 101,489 251,078
commission)
Revenue generated from within the group (fee & - - - -
commission)
147,114 2,475 101,489 251,078
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5 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)
31 December 2022
Asset Investment
Management Banking Corporate Total
Assets 940,479 312,712 2,222,782 3,475,973

Liabilities 190,598 15,828 1,749,366 1,955,792

The results of the discontinued operations and assets/liabilities pertaining to the disposal group classified as
held for sale are included in the ‘Corporate’ operating segment.

The accounting policies of each of the reportable segments are consistent with those of the Group.
Reconciliation of information of reportable segments to the amounts reported in the financial statements

31 December 31 December

2022 2021
Revenues
Total revenue from reportable segments 265,937 322,679
Revenue reported in other segmental line items 216,952 (80,196)
Total Income 482,889 242483

Profit before tax
Total profit before tax from reportable segments (122,497) 70,934
Unallocated amounts - -

Consolidated profit before tax (122,497) 70,934
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5. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

Net fee and commission income
Advisory income

Net interest income

Trading income

Other operating income

Total revenues

Staff costs

General and administrative expenses

Depreciation and amortization

Provision for impairment losses on financial instruments

Other operating expenses

Total expenses

Profit/(loss) before other income and finance cost

Fair value (losses) /gains from investments

Gain from derivative financial liability

Share of loss from investment in associates

Finance cost

Finance cost relating to unit holders

Other income

Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations

Loss for the year from discontinued operations

Profit for the year attributable to NCI

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to Owners

Revenue generated from external customer (fee &
commission)

Revenue generated from within the group (fee &
commission)

Assets

Liabilities

31 December 2021

Asset  Investment
Management Banking Corporate Total
210,753 4,478 80,478 295,709
- 16,401 (3,300) 13,101
- 8,429 (2,514) 5915
181 - 7773 7,954
210,934 29,308 82437 322,679
(77,322) (10,134) (71153) (158,609)
(19,552) (7,013) (43,388) (69,953)
(31,751 (6,568) (7,574) (45,893)
- - (11,020) (11,020)
(5,698) (347) 3,201 (2,844)
(134,323) (24,062) (129,934) (288,319)
76,611 5246 (47,497) 34,360
- (684) 37,789 37,105
- - 2,590 2,590
- - (157,062) (157,062)
(6,201) (2,262) (84,529) (92,992)
- - (2,133) (2133)
5,670 1,847 23,754 31,271
76,080 4147 (227,088) (146,861)
- - 217,795 217,795
(5,035) - (41,661) (46,6906)
71,045 4147 (50,954) 24,238
210,753 4,478 80,478 295,709
37281 - - 37,281
248,034 4,478 80,478 332,990

31 December 2021

Asset Investment
Management Banking  Corporate Total
1,096,045 356,152 4,315,689 5,767,886
208,715 100,227 3,612,882 3,921,824
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6. REVENUE
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
Fees and commission income 272,995 313,300
Advisory income 6,078 13,101
Trading income 7,276 5915
Other operating income (Note 6.1) 1,307 7954
Gross revenue 287,656 340,270
Fee and commission expense (21,917) (17,591)
Revenue 265,739 322,679
6.1 OTHER OPERATING INCOME
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
Other income (301) 6292
Board representation fees 1,608 1,662
1,307 7954

Other income includes income related to operating activities of certain subsidiaries that are other than the
primary activities of ADFG and SHUAA.

7. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

31 December 31 December
2022 2021

Professional fees (10,733) (21,097)
Administration, technology and communication (21,063) (20,301)
Office costs (6,541) (8709)
Corporate marketing and branding costs (8,665) (8,720)
Business travel expenses (1,485) (677)
Directors' fee (5,596) (6,040)
Others (10,111) (10,449)
(64,194) (75,993)

There is no payment for social contribution in 2022 and 2021.
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8. PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
Charge on Loans, advances and finance leases (11,847) (4175)
(Charge)/release of provision of impairment for doubtful receivables and
other assets (356) (6,845)
(12,203) (11,020)

9. IMPAIRMENT OF INTANGIBLES AND OTHER ITEMS

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
Impairment of intangibles (note 16) (119,615) -
Others (5,987) (2,705)
(125,602) 2,705)
10. OTHER INCOME (NET)

31 December

31 December

2022 2021

Covernment grant income 298 8,585
Finance lease modification charge (300) (4,320)
Fair value gain on land 39,540 -
Income from deemed disposal of associate (Note 1) 68,989
Reversal of performance fee expense 41,069
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 30) 14,476
(Loss) / gain on disposal of associate (Note 14) (16,107) -
Others 12,921 27,006

160,886 31,271

1. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
Cash on hand 135 106
Balances held with banks 64,016 460,542
Cash and deposits with banks _ —_
64,151 460,648
Less: Restricted deposits (1,250) (7128)
Cash and cash equivalents 62,901 453520

The rate of interest on the deposits held during the year ended 31 December 2022 ranged from 14% to 625%

(31 December 2021: 1.4% to 625%) per annum.

Cash and deposits with banks include deposits of 1250 (31 December 2021: 7128) with banks, which are held as
collateral against the Croup's banking facilities. For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents are stated net of these deposits.
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12. RECEIVABLES AND OTHER DEBIT BALANCES

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
Trade receivables - net of loss allowance (Note 12.1) 67,891 66,310
Receivables from managed funds 47,329 24,131
Advances and deposits 4,833 5155
Prepayments 5175 9,850
Accrued income 21,296 64,737
Others (Note 12.2) 260,537 180,857
407,061 351,040
Trade receivables and managed funds - net of loss allowance
Trade receivables and managed funds 123,283 98,148
Loss allowance (8,063) (7.707)
115,220 90,441
Movement in loss allowance:
Opening balance (7,707) (19,925)
Charge for the year (356) (6,845)
Written off - 19,063
Closing balance (8,063) (7.707)
121 Included in trade receivables is an amount of 470 (31 December 2021:14,363) due from related parties
(Note 23).
122 This includes 172,000 receivable from the disposal of a subsidiary.
13. LOANS, ADVANCES AND FINANCE LEASES

Loans and advances - net of provision for impairment (a)
Finance leases - net of provision of impairment (b)
Margin lending - net of provision for impairment (c)

(a) Loans and advances

Total loans and advances
Provision for impairment

Movement in cumulative provision for impairment:
Opening balance
Charge for the year

Closing balance

31 December
2022

260,281
14,222

274,503

31 December

2022

283,360
(23,079)

260,281

(11,232)
(11,847)

(23,079)

31 December
2021

32,923
167,018
36,325

236266

31 December
2021

44155
(M,232)

32,923

(M,232)

(M,232)

As at 31 December 2022, the underlying collateral for loans and advances were valued at 173,392 (31 December
2021:39,911). Provisions are made for the uncovered portion of the impaired loans and advances.
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13. LOANS, ADVANCES AND FINANCE LEASES (continued)

Finance leases

(b)

Current finance lease receivables
Non-current finance lease receivables
Provision for impairment

Movement in provision for impairment:
Opening balance

Charge for the year

Reversals during the year

Transferred to held for sale

Closing balance

Leasing arrangements — the Group as lessor

The Group has sub-let a portion of its leased office premises to third parties.

Minimum

lease payments

31 December

2022

Not later than one year -
Later than one year and not later than five 14,222
years

14,222
Less: unearned finance income -
Present value of minimum lease payments
receivable 14,222
Allowances for uncollectible lease payments -

14,222

31 December
2021

112,115
95,535
207,650
(29,497)
178153
(1M135)

167,018

31 December
2022

(11,135)
(1,871)
13,006

31 December
2021

95209
82,944
(11,135)

167,018

(11,933)
(6,728)
7,526

(11135)

Present value of minimum
lease payments

31 December

2022

14,222

14,222

14,222

14,222

31 December
2021

95209
82,944
178153

178153
(11135)

167,018

Unguaranteed residual values of assets leased under finance leases at the end of the reporting period are
estimated at nil. The interest rate implicit in the leases is fixed at the contract date for the entire lease term.

As at 31 December 2022, the underlying collateral for finance leases was valued at Nil (31 Decemiber 2021:158,471).
Provisions are made for the impaired portion of the lease, net of collateral.
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13. LOANS, ADVANCES AND FINANCE LEASES (continued)

(c) Margin lending

The Croup extends margins to clients for the purpose of trading in quoted securities. These advances are short

term in nature and are secured by the underlying securities held in custody by the Group.

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

Total margin lending - 37,455
Cumulative provision for impairment - (1130)

- 36,325
Movement in cumulative provision for impairment:
Opening balance (1,130) (628)
Charge for the year - (502)
Written off during the year 1,130 -
Closing balance - (1130)

As at 31 December 2022, the underlying securities were valued at Nil (31 December 2021: 105,904).
The effect of collateral on assets is as follows:

31 December 2022

Over collateralized Under collateralized
Carrying Value of Carrying Value of
value of the collateral value of the collateral
assets assets
Loans and advances 77,279 116,392 161,396 57,000
Finance leases - - - -
Margin lending - - - -
77,279 116,392 161,396 57,000
31 December 2021
Over collateralized Under collateralized
Carrying Carrying
value of Value of  value of the Value of
the assets collateral assets collateral
Loans and advances 1197 3991 - -
Finance leases 77326 122,988 80,547 35,483
Margin lending 7184 105,904 29141 -
85,707 268,803 109,688 35,483
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14. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

The table below shows the movement in associates during the year:

SHUAA
Hospitality
Fund I L.P.

QIL

Movement
As at 1January 2022 210,393 36,844
Additions - -
Share of profit of associates - -
Share of equity issuance cost

of associate - -
Classified from/(as) FVTPL - -
Disposal - -
Dividends and distributions -
Impairments - -
Transfer to subsidiary (210,393)

Reclassified to Held for sale - (36,844)

As at 31 December 2022 - -

31 December 2022

SHUAA Saudi Eshraq* ADCORP  Others Total
Hospitality Limited

Fund |

13,360 - 36,605 56,834 354,036

- 802,974 - 12,019 814,993

- 154,057 - 8,541 162,598

- - - (10,575) (10,575)

- 8,083 - (6,759) 1,324

- (34,135) - (54,325) (88,460)

- - (19,985) - (19,985)

- - - (5,735) (5,735)

- - - - (210,393)

(13,360) - - - (50,204)

- 930,979 16,620 - 947,599

*Share of profit from associates includes bargain purchase gain which represents the excess of the share of the
net fair value of assets and liabilities of Eshraq over the cost of acquisition. The fair value of net assets was
determined as aresult of a draft notional purchase price allocation (PPA) which will be finalized within one year.
The Croup expects no material change between the draft PPA and the final PPA. The fair value of the associate

was deemed equal to the carrying amount.

The table below shows the movement in associates during 2021

QIL SHUAA
Hospitality
Fund | L.P.
Movement
As at 1 January 2021 379,780 -
Additions - -
Associate arising from loss of
control - -
Share of profit of associates 234,366 -
Impairments (403,753) -
Classified as fair value through
P&L - -
Dividends and distributions - -
Reclassified from Held for sale - 36,844
As at 31 December 2021 210,393 36,844

31 December 2021

SHUAA Mirfa ADCORP  Others Total
Saudi Power Limited
Hospitality Holding
Fund | Company
PJSC
- - 39,312 15,220 434,312
- - 17,857 - 17,857
- - - 50,275 50,275
- - 13,684 4,330 252,380
- - (5,689) - (409442)
- - - (12,991 (12,991)
- - (28,559) - (28,559)
13,360 - - - 50,204
13,360 - 36,605 56,834 354,036
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14. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

The table below provides summarised financial information for those associates that are material to the Group.
The information disclosed reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the relevant associates
and not the Group's share of those amounts.

31 December 2022
SHUAA SHUAA Saudi

Hospitality  Hospitality ADCORP
QIL Fund I LP. Fund | Eshraq Limited Others Total

Summarised statement

of financial position

Assets

- Current - - - 2,096,058 40,292 - 2,136,350
-Non-current - - - 923,715 - 923,715
Total assets - - - 3,019,773 40,292 3,060,065
Liabilities

- Current - - - 86,879 1,835 - 88,714
-Non-current - - - 229,229 - - 229,229
Total liabilities - - - 316,108 1,835 317,943
Net Assets - - - 2,703,665 38,457 - 2,742,122
Summarised statement

of comprehensive

income

Revenue - - - 570,683 2,376 - 573,059
Profit for the year - - - 589,790 24,855 - 614,645
Other comprehensive

profit for the year - - - 472 - - 472
Total comprehensive

income for the year - - - 590,262 24.855 - 615,117

31 December 2021
SHUAA SHUAA Saudi Mirfa
QIL Hospitality — Hospitality Power ADCORP Others Total
Fund I L.P. Fund | Holding Limited
Company
PJSC

Summarised statement

of financial position
Assets
- Current 260,034 294 265,662 - 421,923 54,153 1,002,066
- Non-current 1783278 137,073 40,379 - - 232,977 2,193,707
Total assets 2,043,312 137,367 306,041 - 421,923 287,130 3,195,773
Liabilities
- Current 82,551 779 125,656 - 10,757 66,625 286,368
-Non-current 228,827 - - - - 512 229339
Total liabilities 311,378 779 125,656 - 10,757 67137 515,707
Net Assets 1,731,934 136,588 180,385 - 411166 219,993 2,680,066
Summarised statement

of comprehensive

income

Revenue 819,511 2185 34,498 - 74146 120,129 1,050,469
Profit for the year 659,572 2185 9,829 - 73,840 38,677 784,103
Other comprehensive - - - - - - -
loss for the year
Total comprehensive

income for the year 659,572 2185 9,829 - 73,840 38,677 784,103
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15. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Cost

Balance at beginning of the year
Lease modifications

Additions

Transfers

Disposal of subsidiary

Disposals

Balance at end of the year

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at beginning of the year
Charge for the year

Transfers

Disposal of subsidiary

Disposals

Balance at end of the year

Net book value
Balance at end of the year

Leasehold
Improvements

14,320

Office
equipment

15,706

749

(11,692)
@7

4,736

14,079
605

(11,978)

Motor
vehicles

1,058

31 December 2022

Furniture Land &
and fixture buildings
3,083 2,551

(539) -

2,544 2,551

1,260 301

569 -

1,829 301

715 2,250

Artworks
and
painting

1,356

Right-of-use

assets Total
54,774 92,848
12,872 12,872
- 749
(7,417) (21,295)
(165) 1,171)
60,064 84,003
33,991 58,487
1,457 13,834
(504) (14,011)
44,944 58,310
15,120 25,693
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15. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Cost

Balance at beginning of the year
Additions

Transfers

Disposals

Balance at end of the year

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at beginning of the year
Charge for the year

Transfers

Disposals

Balance at end of the year

Net book value
Balance at end of the year

Leasehold
Improvements

20,200
1,070
(428)

(7,222)

14,320

Office Motor

equipment vehicles
8277 857
4112 487
3484 -
(167) (286)
15,706 1,058
7856 505
1,808 219
4,570 -
(156) (141)
14,079 583
1,627 475

31 December 2021

Furniture
and fixture

5,841
367
(3,056)
(69)

3,083

4,914
569
(4,207)
(16)

1260

1,823

Land &
buildings

2551

2250

Artworks
and Right-of-use
paintings assets
1357 47170
- 16,019
m (8,415)
1356 54,774
22864
3 15,625
- (4,498)
3 33,991
1,353 20,783

Total

86,953
22,055

(16,160)

92,848

44191
22116

(7,821

58486

34,362
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15. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

1541 The recognised right-of-use assets relate to the following types of assets:

31 December 31 December
2022 2021
Buildings () 60,064 54,774
Total right-of-use assets at cost (Note 15) 60,064 54774
™ The Group has sub-let a portion of the leased property to third parties which have been adjusted
against the recognised right-of-use assets (Note 15).
15.2 The depreciation charge for right-of-use assets pertains mainly to office premises (Note 15).
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
Buildings 11,457 15,625

Total depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 15) 11,457 15,625

16. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

31 December 2022

Goodwill Trademark Customer Trade Total
/ Brand Relationships  Licenses

Cost

Balance at beginning of the year 1,024,676 15,573 215,249 18,807 1,274,305
Impact of foreign currency translation (66,441) - - - (66,441)
Impairment - (4,980) (155,000) (2,000) (161,980)
Disposal (81,155) (2,600) (26,000) (9,200) (118,955)
Balance at end of the year 877,080 7,993 34,249 7,607 926,929
Accumulated amortization

Balance at beginning of the year - 2,064 60,220 7 62,291
Charge for the year - 735 13,342 - 14,077
Impairment - (726) (41,639) - (42,365)
Disposal - (549) (8,759) - (9,308)
Balance at end of the year - 1,524 23,164 7 24,695
Net book value as at 31 December 2022 877,080 6,469 11,085 7,600 902,234
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16. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

31 December 2021

Goodwill Trademark Customer Trade Total
/ Brand Relationships Licenses

Cost
Balance at beginning of the year 1,030,562 15,573 215,249 18,807 1,280,191
Impact of foreign currency translation (5,886) - - - (5,886)
Balance at end of the year 1,024,676 15,573 215,249 18,807 1,274,305
Accumulated amortization
Balance at beginning of the year - 1161 37226 7 38394
Charge for the year - 203 22,994 - 23,897
Balance at end of the year - 2,064 60,220 7 62,291
Net book value
Net book value as at 31 December 2021 1,024,676 13,509 155,029 18,800 1212014

This includes goodwill and other intangibles arisen upon cessation of investment entity and acguisition of
subsidiaries as part of the business combination mainly on account of expected synergies, efficient business
management, high standards of policies, compliances with relevant regulatory framework and integrity,
experience and other strength of the workforce and management. Accordingly, the goodwill recognized
represents the excess of the fair value of the net assets acquired over the proportionate share acquired in
identifiable net assets.

As atyearend, the Group completed the restructuring of the real estate CGU wherein Asset Management-Astrea,
and Asset Management-Northacre were merged with the Asset Management-Real estate CGU. The strategy of
the Group is to develop and market the real estate segment under one umbrella which would bring about
synergies and efficiencies in generating cash flows for the Group.

During the year, one of the Group's subsidiaries received notice of a significant contract termination. As a result,
the Group recognised accelerated amortization on the contract of AED 93777 which is disclosed in impairment
of intangibles and other items. In addition to this, the Group recognised accelerated amortization of AED 25,837
on trademarks, licenses and customer contracts pertaining to the Real estate CCGU based on the expected
recoverability of these intangibles.

The GCroup performs impairment tests on Goodwill annually or earlier if an impairment trigger has been
identified. Management assessed the recoverable amount for the cash-generating units ("CCUs") using the
higher of fair value less cost to sell and value in use ("VIU"). VIU calculations were determined using cash flow
projections from financial budgets approved by the Group's senior management covering a five-year period.
The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections represent the cost of capital adjusted for an appropriate
risk premium for these cash-generating units. The Group reassessed the discount rates based on updated
market data that adequately reflects the business risks associated with each CGUs. In order for there to be a
material impact on the VIU calculation of the asset management - real estate CGU to require an impairment of
the carrying amount of the goodwill, the discount rate needs to increase by 2548 percent while the growth rates
need to decrease by 100 percent. For all other CGUs discount and growth rates need to vary significantly beyond
current economic extreme forecasts in order for a material impact on the VIU calculation to require an
impairment of the carrying amount of the goodwill. The key assumptions used in estimating the recoverable
amounts of cash-generating units were assessed to ensure reasonableness of the VIU and resulting adjustment,
if any, is recorded in the consolidated income statement. The Group has also performed a sensitivity analysis by
varying key inputs by a reasonable margin. Except for the above disclosed accelerated amortization
(impairment of intangibles), the Group concluded that there was no impairment of its intangible assets in 2022
(31 December 2021 nil).
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16. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
The carrying amount of Goodwill, Trade licenses and Customer relationships as at 31 December 2022 allocated
to each CGU along with the key inputs used for VIU calculations and sensitivity analysis are summarized as

follows:

31 December 2022

CGU Goodwill Customer Trademar Trade Discount  Growth Change Change
relationship ks/Brand licenses rate rate in in
Discount Growth
rate of rate of
+1% -1%
Asset
Management
- Real Estate 628,212 - 2,902 3,300 8.75% 2.5% (135,094) (107,600)
Investment
Banking 162,215 - 2,215 4,000 6.95% 3.5% (534,844) (470,056)
NCM - - - - - - - -
Fixed Income
Trading 58,746 11,085 1,352 - 6.95% 3.5% (82,418) (72,381)
Investment
Solutions 27,907 - - 300 6.95% 3.5% (83,838) (73,731)
877,080 11,085 6,469 7,600

31 December 2021

CGU Goodwill Customer Trademar Trade Discount  Growth Change Change
relationship ks/Brand licenses rate rate in in
Discount Growth
rate of rate of
+1% 1%
Asset
Management
- Astred 254,607 Q9111 - - 4.5% 1.5% (171,567) (157,415)
Asset
Management
- Northacre 242814 - 3,077 - 45% - (53,462) -
Asset
Management
- Real Estate 197,470 24,283 4,378 5300 15.0% 2.0% (40,147) (28,786)
Investment
Banking 162,215 - 2,347 4,000 16.0% 2.0% (29,769) (20,873)
NCM 81,155 19,316 2181 9200 15.5% 2.5% (15,777) (11,060)
Fixed Income
Trading 58,244 12,319 1,526 - 15.5% 2.0% (14,883) (10,560)
Investment
Solutions 28,171 - - 300 15.5% 2.0% (37,085) (26,633)
1,024,676 155,029 13,509 18,800
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17. PAYABLES AND OTHER CREDIT BALANCES

Payables and other credit balances comprise the following:

Payable to clients

Customer deposits

Accruals

Lease liabilities (Note 17.1)
Repurchase agreements (Note 17.2)
Payables against acquisitions
Unclaimed dividends payable
FVTPL liabilities

Realised carried interest payable to employees
End of service benefits

Provisions (Note 17.3)

Derivative financial liability
Deferred revenue

Other payables

171 Lease liabilities

Current
Non-current

31 December
2022

3,505
14,546
69,423
33,408

172,876
33,457
142
10,501
13,265
366
6,174
130,806

488,469

31 December
2022

6,398
27,010

33,408

31 December
2021

9,701
20,501
84,096
40,399
41,562
226,893
33,457
1,610
1,340
18,493
9,844
217
7,053
305,026

802,092

31 December
2021

10,734
29,665

40,399

This represents liability recognised on application of IFRS 16 in relation to renting of office space for the Group.

17.2 Repurchase agreements

Represents liabilities arising out of repurchase agreements entered with financial institutions. Securities sold
subject to repurchase agreements are disclosed as pledged assets. The amounts received from the

counterparty is included as a liability.

17.3 Movement in provisions

As at1January
Charged to profit or loss
Disposal of subsidiary (Note 30)

As at 31 December

31 December
2022

9,844
1,898
(11,376)

366

31 December
2021

3,539
6,305

All other balances above, except as disclosed in note 25, are expected to be settled within 12 months after the

end of the reporting period.
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18. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

31December 31 December

2022 2021
Repayable within twelve months 5,589 81,707
Repayable after twelve months 158,219 66,560

163,808 148267

These comprise of issued term and wakalah investment certificates as well as other debt obligations.
19. BORROWINGS
Borrowings at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

31 December 31 December

2022 2021
Secured
Due to banks 347,547 1122623
Due to other financial institutions (Note 19.1) 29,879 45579
Others 280,314 33,007
657,740 1201209
Unsecured
Due to banks - 75226
Due to other financial institutions - 15,062
Bonds payable 548,466 543944
Others (Note 19.1 and 19.2) - 149,978
548,466 784,210

1,206,206 1,985,419

191 These include borrowings amounting to 29,879 (31 December 2021: 45,540) due to related parties with an
interest rate of 73% to 8% p.a. 2021 73% to 9.5% p.a.).

192 This includes Nil (31 December 2021: 112,401) related to funding received by a subsidiary from its regulator
to finance and support Small and Medium-Sized Entities (SME) lending activity of the subsidiary.

193 Finance cost includes interest of 41,895 (31 December 2021: 41,895) on the Bonds payable.

Maturity profile of borrowings at the end of the year are as follows:

31 December 31 December

2022 2021
Secured
Repayable within twelve months 426,179 803,754
Repayable after twelve months 231,561 397455
657,740 1201209
Unsecured
Repayable within twelve months 548,466 82,01
Repayable after twelve months - 702199
548,466 7842210

1,206,206 1985419
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19. BORROWINGS (continued)

194

Facility type

Term Loan

Bond

Murabaha facility
Revolving Facility

Facility type

Term Loan

Bond

Murabaha facility
Revolving Facility

Summary of borrowing arrangements:

Facility
Amount

550,582
548,466
107,158

1,206,206

Facility
Amount

622164
543,944
752,913
66,398

1,985,419

31 December 2022
Original
Tenor

Between O to 7 years
Between 2 to 3 years
Between O to 5 years

within 1 year

31 December 2021
Original
Tenor

Between O to 7 years
Between 2 to 3 years
Between O to 5 years

within 1year

Effective
interest/profit
rate

1.5% - 14%
7.50%

3% - 9%
4% - 5%

Effective
interest/profit
rate

1.5% - 9.5%
7.50%

3% - 9%
4% - 5%

Collaterals mainly include cash, liquid securities, land and private equity holdings.

19.5

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

Collateral

605,983

116,392

722,375
Collateral

1133,859

1,564,705
84,987

2,783,551

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Non-cash changes

Acquisitions Financing Other Disposal of Transfer At 31
At1 on business cash charges subsidiaries to Held December
January combination flows (i) (ii) (iii) for sale 2022
2022
Due to banks 1,197,849 137,621 (161,815) (202,026) (587,549) (36,533) 347,547
Due to other
financial
institutions 60,641 - (55,667) 164,270 (139,365) - 29,879
Bonds payable 543,944 - (37,373) 41,895 - - 548,466
Others 182,985 292,131 - (95,573) (67,256) (31,973) 280,314
1,985,419 429,752 (254,855) (91,434) (794,170) (68,506) 1,206,206
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19. BORROWINGS (continued)
19.5 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities (continued)

Non-cash changes

Foreign
At 1 Acquisitions Financing Other currency Transfer At 31
January on business cash charges exchange to Held December
2021 combination flows (i) (i) difference for sale 2021
Due to banks 1,605,826 - (393,760) 14,217) - - 1197849
Due to other financial
institutions 91,819 - (31,659) 481 - - 60,641
Bonds payable 499317 - 47584 (2,957) - - 543944
Others 198,739 - (17,417) 1,663 - - 182,985
2,395,701 - (395252) (15,030) - - 1985419
0] Net cash flows from proceeds and repayment of borrowings
(i) Other charges include interest accruals, repayments and discontinued operations adjustments.
20. SHARE CAPITAL
Number of shares Valve
31 December 2022 2,535,720 2,535,720

31 December 2021 2535720 2535720

Authorised, issued and fully paid share capital comprises 2,535,720,000 shares (31 December 2021: 2,535,720,000
shares) of AED 1 per share (31 December 2021: AED 1 per share). Each share carries one vote and the right to
receive dividends.

At 31 December 2022, the Company had Nil (31 December 2021: Nil) treasury shares outstanding. During year, the
Company sold Nil treasury shares (202128,107,748) for total proceeds of Nil (2021:19,635). The cost of these shares
was Nil.
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21. OTHER RESERVES
Merger Investment Cash flow Translation Total
reserve revaluation hedge reserve
21.1) reserve reserve
As at 1 January 2022 (1,410,720) (49,628) 3,316 32,580 (1,424,452)
Remeasurement of equity
investments carried at FVOC| - (18,947) - - (18,947)
Cash flow hedge - 12,158 12,158
Translation of operations of
foreign subsidiaries - - - (61,639) (61,639)
NCI share - 3,385 - 22,019 25,404
Other comprehensive
(loss)/income - (18,947) 12,158 (61,639) (68,428)
As at 31 December 2022 (1,410,720) (65,190) 15,474 (7,040) (1,467,476)
As at 31 December 2021 (49,628) 3316 32,580 (1,424,452)

(1,410,720)

|

211 Merger reserve represents the excess value of the consideration paid by the legal acquirer (SHUAA)
over the nominal value of the pre-merger share capital of the legal acquiree (ADFC).

22. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share has been computed by dividing the net profit attributable to the Owners with the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding

31 December 31 December

2022 2021
Loss attributable to the Owners from continuing operations (2,608) (193,557)
(Lossy/profit attributable to the Owners (135,204) 24238
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 2,535,720 2535720
Earnings per share attributable to Owners from continuing operations (0.001) (0.08)
Earnings per share attributable to Owners (0.05) 0.01

Diluted earnings per share as of 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 are equivalent to basic earnings per
share.
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23. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

The Group enters into transactions with companies and entities that fall within the definition of a related party.
Related parties represent significant shareholders, directors and key management personnel of the Group, their
close family members and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties.

The Group conducts its transactions with related parties on arm’s length terms, with any exceptions to be
specifically approved by the Board. In all cases, transactions with related parties are required to be conducted
in compliance with all relevant laws and regulations. Where a Board member has an actual or perceived conflict
of interest over an issue to be considered by the Board, the interested member may not vote on any relevant
resolutions and can also be asked by the Chairman not to participate in the relevant Board discussions.

The nature of significant related party transactions and the amounts due to/from related parties were as
follows:

31 December 31 December

2022 2021
Loan, advances and finance leases
Associates 77,279 42453
Receivables and other debit balances
Associates 470 14,363
Borrowings
Associates 29,879 45540
Other financial liabilities
Associates 53,122

Significant transactions with related parties included in these consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Finance cost on the borrowings
Associates 5,640
Shareholders

31 December 31 December
2022 2021
Directors remuneration 4,500 2,807
Key management compensation:

Salaries, bonuses and other benefits 12,973 11,875
Long term incentive plan (LTIP") 5,742 1114
Post-employment benefits 451 336
19,166 13,325

Revenue earned from related parties
Other related parties 20,805 20,805
Associates -
2392
Q09

Interest paid on borrowings
Associates 2,390 1793
Shareholders

Finance lease repayments received from associates was AED Nil (31 December 2021: AED 646). Expected credit
loss from Loans, advances, finance leases and other receivables from related parties is AED Nil (31 December
2021: Nil).
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
241 Fair value of financial instruments

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by
valuation technique:

- Level 1. quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

- Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value
are observable, either directly or indirectly; and

- Level 3 techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are
not based on observable market data.

The following table shows an analysis of financial assets recorded at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy:

31 December 2022
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial Assets
FVTPL
-Equity investments 899 45,143 25,376 71,418
-Fixed income investments 9,075 7,226 - 16,301
-Fund investments - 10,591 569,730 580,321
FVOCI
-Equity investments
-Fund investments 562 562

9,974 62,960 595,668 668,602

Financial Liabilities
FVTPL 142 - - 142

Payable to unit holders - 29,290 - 29,290
Lease liability - - 33,457 33,457

142 29,290 33,457 62,889

During the year, the Group recognized fair value loss amounting to (128,132) (31 December 2021: gains amounting
o 654,922), on investments carried at FVTPL The Group purchased investments of Nil (2021: 476,050) during the
financial year ended 31 December 2022.

The above non-derivative equity investments are not held for trading and have been designated by the Group
as at FVOC!I at initial recognition as the Group considers these investments to be strategic in nature. These
include changes in fair value losses amounting to Nil recognised during the year (31 December 2021 (35,134)).

FVTPL and FVOCI investments include securities with market value of 722,375 (31 December 2021: 870,791) which
are pledged against borrowings (Note 19). The most materially significant FVTPL level 3 investments are real
estate funds assets in the UK and the UAE.

The carrying amount of financial instruments carried at amortised cost approximate their value due to their
short nature and as certain of them carry market rate of interest.
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
241 Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

31 December 2021

Levell Level?2 Level3 Total
Financial Assets
FVTPL
-Equity investments 2,335,017 - 2236 2,337,253
-Fixed income investments 90,842 6,296 - 97138
-Fund investments - 84352 571,481 655,833
FVOCI
-Equity investments - - - -
-Fund investments - - 23366 23366
2425859 90,648 597083 3113590
Financial Liabilities
FVTPL 1,610 2117 - 3,727
Payable to unit holders - 986,046 - 086,046
Lease liability - - 40,399 40,399
1,610 288163 40,399 1030172

Financial assets recorded at fair value

The following is a description of the determination of fair value for financial instruments which are recorded at
fair value using valuation techniques. These incorporate the Croup's estimate of assumptions that a market
participant would make when valuing the instruments.

At fair value through profit or loss:

Investments and financial liabilities carried at FVTPL are valued using market prices in active markets or
valuation techniques which incorporate data which is both observable and non-observable. This category
includes quoted and unquoted securities and funds which invest in underlying assets which are in turn valued
based on both observable and non-observable data. Observable inputs include market prices (from active
markets), foreign exchange rates and movements in stock market indices. Unobservable inputs include
assumptions regarding expected future financial performance, discount rates and market liquidity discounts.
Investments classified as FVTPL falling under level 2 category have been valued using the Net Asset Value.
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
241 Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

At fair value through other comprehensive income:

Investments carried at FVOCI financial assets are valued using quoted prices in active markets, valuation techniques or pricing models and consist of quoted equities, and
unquoted funds. These assets are valued using quoted prices or models which incorporate data which is both observable and non-observable. The non-observable inputs
to the models include assumptions regarding the future financial performance of the investee, its risk profile and economic assumptions regarding the industry and
geographical jurisdiction in which the investee operates. The following table shows the impact on the fair value of level 3 instruments reflecting change in underlying
assumptions used in the valuation by class of instrument.

Financial assets Fair value as at Fair value Valuation Significant Effect of Effect of Relationship of
hierarchy  technique(s) and  unobservable changesin changes in unobservable inputs
Key input(s) input(s) underlying underlying  Sensitivity analysis to fair value
assumptions assumptions
2022 2021
31/12/22 31/12/21
FVTPL
Equity 25,376 2236 NAV? Net asset +/-1,278 +/-112 + 5% change in The higher the
investments value NAV, impacts fair discount rate, the
value lower the fair value
Fixed Income - - Discounted cash Discount rate - - +1% change in The higher the
flow' discount rate, discount rate, the
impacts fair value lower the fair value
Fund 569,730 571,481 Discounted cash Net asset +/- 28,469 +/-28,574 + 5% change in The higher the
investments flow' value adjusted NAV and 1% market risk, the
and NAV? with market change in lower the fair value
risk discount rate, and the higher the
impacts fairvalue  discount rate, the
lower the fair value
FvOcCi
Fund 562 23,366 NAV? Net asset +/-28 +/-1168 + 5% changein The higher the
investments value NAV, impacts fair market risk, the

value

lower the fair value
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241 Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

Significant unobservable inputs in Level 3 instruments valuations
'Discounted cash flow models are used to fair volue fund investments. A significant portion of the fund investments relates to o UK based real estote development fund that uses market comparable and discounted
cashflow model to determine its fair value, of which the key assumptions relate to timing of future cash inflows/outflows and discount rate. For the remining assets recognized under fund investments, the cash flow model

includes assumptions related to future cash inflows/outflows, discount rate and growth rate. The extent of the adjustment varied according to the characteristics of each investment

“Net asset value represents the estimated value of a security based on vaoluations received from the investment or fund manager. The NAV is based on the fair value of the underlying investments and other assets and

liobilities. The valuation of certain private equity securities is based on the economic benefit we derive from our investment.

Movements in level 3 financial assets measured at fair value

During the period, there were no transfers between levels.

The following table shows a reconciliation of the opening and closing balance of level 3 financial assets which are recorded at fair value:

31 December 2022

Acquired on Transfers Balance at
Balance at business Gain/(loss) Gain/(loss) from/(to) 31 December
1 January 2022 combination Additions Disposal through P&L through OCI associate 2022
FVTPL
Equity 2,236 - 23,140 - - - - 25,376
Investments

Fixed Income - - - - - - - -
Fund Investment 571,481 3,746 - (6,846) (5,410) - 6,759 569,730
FVOCI
Fund Investment 23,366 - - - - (22,804) - 562

597,083 3,746 23,140 (6,846) (5,410) (22,804) 6,759 595,668

31 December 2021
Acquired on Transfers Balance at
Balance at business Gain/(loss) Gain/(loss) from/(to) levels 31 December
1January 2021 combination Additions Disposal through P&L through OCI 1&2 2021
FVTPL
Equity 2299 - - - (63) - - 2236
Investment

Fixed Income 1133 - - - (1133) - - -
Fund Investment 414,919 - 137,992 - 18,570 - - 571,481
EVOCI
Fund Investment 50,707 - - - - (27341 - 23366

469,058 - 137,992 - 17374 (27341) - 597083
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
241 Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

Gains and losses on level 3 financial assets included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year are detailed as follows:

31 December 31 December
2022 2021
Realised and unrealised gains/(losses) (5,410) 17,374

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Introduction

The inherent risk relating to the Group's activities is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other
controls. The Group is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk (comprising, interest rate risk foreign exchange risk and equity price risk) and operational risk.

Risk management structure

The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for identifying and controlling risk relating to the Group's activities and recognises the importance of managing risk in line
with shareholder risk appetite.

Authority to set Group-wide rules to manage credit, liquidity and market risk are delegated to the Governance Committees of the CGroup and to each subsidiary. However,
enterprise-wide risk is monitored by the Group Management Committees which ensures that Croup rules are adhered to.

Credit risk
Credit risk, or the risk of loss due to default on payment, is controlled by the application of credit approvals and monitoring procedures. Rules to limit exposure to credit
risk are set by the Board of Directors and authority is delegated to the Governance Committees to set rules by business and strategy. Adherence to overall limits,

authorisation, concentration and collateral requirements are independently monitored and managed by Risk Management.

Risk Management oversees the status of receivables, exposures and provisions and mitigation steps are approved for any balances considered doubtful in accordance
with internal and regulatory policies and guidelines.

Credit risk management
The estimation of credit risk for risk management purpose is complex and requires use of models, as the exposure varies with changes in market condition, expected cash

flows and the passage of time. The assessment of credit risk of a portfolio of assets entails further estimations as to the likelihood of defaults occurring and of the associated
loss ratios. The Group measures credit risk using PD, EAD and LGD.
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25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Credit risk grading

Itis the Group's policy to maintain accurate and up to date risk ratings across the credit portfolio. This facilitates
focused management of the applicable risks and the comparison of credit exposures across all lines of business,
geographic regions and products. The rating system is supported by a variety of financial analytics, combined
with processed market information to provide the main inputs for the measurement of counterparty risk. All
internal risk ratings are tailored to the various categories and are derived in accordance with the Group's rating
policy. The attributable risk ratings are assessed and updated regularly. The credit grades are calibrated, such
that the risk of default increases exponentially at each higher risk grade.

The following data are typically used to monitor the Group's exposures:

° Information obtained at the time of extending the facility and periodic review of customer files - eg.
audited financial statements, management accounts, budgets and projections.

Requests for and granting of forbearance

Existing and forecast changes in business, financial and economic conditions

Utilization of the granted limit

Payment record - this includes overdue status as well as a range of variables about payment ratios.

The Group analyses all data collected using statistical models and estimates the remaining lifetime PD of
exposures and how these are expected to change over time. The factors taken into account in this process include
macro-economic data such as oil prices, non-oil commodities indexes, etc. The Group generates a ‘based case’
scenario of the future direction of relevant economic variables as well as representative range of other possible
forecast scenarios.

Definition of defavlt and credit-impaired assets

The Group defines a financial instrument as in default, which is fully aligned with definition of credit impaired,
when it meets one or more of the following criteria:

The borrower is more than 90 days past due on its contractual payments.

The borrower meets unlikeliness to pay criteria, which indicates the borrower is in significant financial
difficulty. These are instances like long-term forbearance, borrower is insolvent, borrower is entering
bankruptcy etc.

Significant increase in credit risk

The Group considers a financial instrument to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk when there is
significant increase in credit risk is measured by comparing the risk of default estimated at origination. The Group
also considers in its assessment of significant increase in credit risk, various qualitative factors like significant
adverse changes in business, extension of term granted, actual and expected forbearance or restructuring, early
sign of cash flows and liquidity problems.

Collateral and other credit enhancements

The amount and type of collateral depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. Collaterals
mainly include cash, liquid securities, land and buildings, vessels, equipment, mortgages on vehicles and private
equity holdings.

Management of the Group monitors the market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance
with the underlying agreement, and monitors the market value of collateral obtained during its review of the
adequacy of the allowance for impairment losses.
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25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Maximum exposure to credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the consolidated statement of financial position,
before considering other credit enhancement, is shown below:

Gross maximum Gross maximum
exposure exposure
31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Cash and deposits with banks 64,151 460,648
Receivables and other debit balances 407,061 358,747
Loans, advances and finance leases 274,503 259763

Total credit risk exposure 745,715 1,079,158

Credit risk consideration

The Group does not have significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or group of counterparties
that have similar credit risk. The Group does not have any exposure to Russian and/or Ukranian markets. The
geographical concentration of the Group’s financial assets at 31 December 2022 and 2021 is set out below:

31 December 2022

North
Assets UAE Gce* MENA™* America Europe Asia Total

Cash and deposits

with banks 40,534 2,634 - - 20,983 - 64,151
Receivables and

other debit

balances 158,302 206,587 - - 42,172 - 407,061
Loans, advances and

finance leases 254,736 - - 19,767 - 274,503

453,572 209,221 - - 82,922 - 745,715
31 December 2021
North
Assets UAE Gcer MENA™** America Europe Asia Total

Cash and deposits

with banks 198,573 223,015 8,794 - 30,266 - 460,648
Receivables and

other debit

balances 268,876 15,055 17,549 390 49,170 - 351,040
Loans, advances and

finance leases 43214 167,598 - - 25,454 - 236266

510,662 405,668 26,343 390 104,890 - 1,047,954

* GCC region excluding UAE
o MENA region excluding GCC and UAE

Credit quality analysis and measurement of ECL

The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Group using internal credit ratings. The Company's cash
and bank balances represents high grade assets which are placed with financial institutions with high credit
rating. The Group determines based on the credit quality of financial assets whether they are subject to a 12-
month ECL or lifetime ECL and, in the latter case, whether they are credit-impaired (loans, advances and finance
leases). The Group uses a provision matrix (lifetime ECL) for trade receivables and receivable from funds.
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25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Credit quality analysis and measurement of ECL (continued)

Under receivables and other debit balances AED 170m is related to the consideration receivable from the disposal
of NCM (see Note 30). This amount has been assessed of being low credit risk and therefore the corresponding
ECL is considered immaterial. The residual balance of AED 50m represented under Others has also been assessed
as being low credit risk and the corresponding ECL is considered immaterial.

The ECL modelling does not differ for Purchased or Originated Credit Impaired ("POCI") financial assets, except
that (o) gross carrying value and discount rate are based on cash flows that were recoverable at initial
recognition of the asset, rather than based on contractual cash flows, and (b) the ECL is always a lifetime ECL.
POClassets are financial assets that are credit-impaired upon initial recognition, such as impaired loans acquired
in a past business combination. ECL for POCI financial assets is always measured on d lifetime basis. The Group
therefore only recognizes the cumulative changes in lifetime expected credit losses. Tables below show the credit
quality of financial assets of the Group other than cash and bank balances and the ECL recognised thereon.

31 December 2022
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total

Loans and advances
Performing 108,964 174,396 - - 283,360
Non-performing - - - - -

Gross loans and advances 108,964 174,396 - - 283,360
Allowance for impairment (9,531) (13,548) - - (23,079)
Carrying amount 99,433 160,848 - - 260,281

31 December 2021

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total

Loans and advances
Performing 44,155 - - - 44155
Non-performing - -

Cross loans and advances 44155 - - - 44155
Allowance for impairment (11,232) - - - (11,232)
Carrying amount 32,923 - - - 32923
Finance leases 31 December 2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
Performing 14,222 - - - 14,222

Non-performing - - - - -

Finance leases 14,222 - - - 14,222
Allowance for impairment - - - - -

Carrying amount 14,222 - - - 14,222
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Finance leases 31 December 2021

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
Performing 111,604 22193 - - 133,797
Non-performing - - - 44,356 44,356
Finance leases 111,604 22193 - 44356 178153
Allowance for impairment (65) (521) - (10,549) (11135)
Carrying amount 111,539 21,672 - 33,807 167,018
Margin Lending 31 December 2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
Performing - - - _

Non-performing - - - -

Margin Lending - - - - -
Allowance for impairment - - - - _

Carrying amount - - - - -

Margin Lending 31 December 2021

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage POCI Total

3

Performing 37097 - - 37097
Non-performing - - 358 358
Margin Lending 37,097 - 358 37,455
Allowance for impairment 772) - (358) (1130)
Carrying amount 36,325 - - 36,325
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Loans and advances provision movement

31 December 2022 31 December
2021
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12 months ECL  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL POCI Total Total
Loans and advances
Balance at 1 January (11,232) - - - (11,232) -
Allowance for impairment — Charge for the year 1,701 (13,548) - - (11,847) (11,232)
Reversal of allowance - - - -
Changes in allowance for impairment
- Transfer to Stage 1 - - - - - -
- Transfer to Stage 2 - - - - - -
- Transfer to Stage 3 - - - - - -
Closing balance at 31 December (9,531) (13,548) - - (23,079) (11,232)
Finance leases provision movement
31 December 2022 31 December
2021
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12 months ECL  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL POCI Total Total
Finance leases
Balance at 1January (11135) - (11,135) (11,933)

Allowance for impairment - Charge for the year
Reversal of allowance

Changes in allowance for impairment

- Transfer to Stage 1

- Transfer to Stage 2

- Transfer to Stage 3

Transferred to Held for sale

Closing balance at 31 December

(1,871)

(1,871)

(6,728)
7526

(11135)
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25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Margin lending provision movement

Margin lending
Balance at 1 January

Allowance for impairment — Charge for the year
Write off

Reversal of allowance

Changes in allowance for impairment

- Transfer to Stage 1

- Transfer to Stage 2

- Transfer to Stage 3

Closing balance at 31 December

31 December 2022

31 December

2021
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12 months ECL  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL POCI Total Total
- - - (1,130) (1,130) (628)
- - - - - (502)
- - - 1130 1130 -
- - - - - (1130)
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Collateral and other credit enhancements
The table below details the fair value of the collateral which is updated regularly:

Loans, advances and finance

leases
31 December 31 December

2022 2021
Against individually impaired:
Properties 57,000 131,231
Fixed income and equities 116,392 34,003
Others - 139,052
Closing balance at 31 December 173,392 304,286

The credit loss allowance for trade receivables is determined according to provision matrix presented in the
table below. The provision matrix is based on the number of days that an asset is past due, adjusted for forward
looking information as described in Note 42.

0-30 31-180 >180 Total Total
days days days 31 December 31 December
2022 2021
Trade receivables and managed funds
Cross carrying amount 19,214 61,956 42,113 123,383 98,148
ECL - - (8,063) (8,063) (7,707)
19,214 61,956 34,050 115,220 90,441
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Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its funding reguirements and arises principally on
the Group's borrowings, payables and other credit balances and other financial liabilities.

Liquidity risk management

To limit this risk, management has arranged diversified funding sources, managed assets with liquidity in mind
and monitored liquidity on a daily basis.

The Group has already taken various measures to manage the funding and liquidity risk including closely
monitoring cash flows and forecasts.

The Group is strengthening its liguidity buffer through working capital management and fund-raising initiatives.
The Croup believes that the current cash and cash equivalents provide sufficient level of liquidity and stability
during this time of uncertainty.

The Group's approach aims to always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, without incurring
unacceptable losses and without materially affecting the return on capital The Risk Committee of the Board
("RCB") and Asset Liabilities Committee (ALCO") set minimum liquidity ratios and cash balance requirements
which are then approved by the Board. The Group collates the projected cash flow and liquidity profiles of its
financial assets and financial liabilities. It maintains a portfolio of short-term liquid assets to cover requirements,
largely consisting of short-term liquid placements with financial institutions.

The various liquidity monitoring metrics are monitored by both the RCB and ALCO against internally set limits
which have been approved by the Board. The primary measures of liquidity used by the Group are stock of liquid
assets, liquidity coverage ratio and net funding requirement. The oversight of the liguidity risk by the Board, RCB
and ALCO also includes the monitoring of the Group's compliance with the debt covenants, which are linked to
the Group's debt to equity ratios, liquidity ratios and net worth.

As at 31 December 2022, there was a technical breach in the debt covenant relating to a newly consolidated
subsidiary arising from gain of control. The principal of the debt affected is AED 77 million and the breach is
expected to beremediated by June 2023 when the restructuring is expected to be completed. The loan continues
to be adeqguately secured by the underlying collateral with sufficient buffer. Other than disclosed in this note,
there are no other breaches of the debt covenants. The Group also expects to continue to comply with its
covenants over the tenure of the individual borrowing facilities.

The maturity profile of liabilities as of the reporting date, determined on the basis of the remaining contractual
maturity is as follows. Where assets have no contractual maturity date (*) management has made an estimate
of the maturity date based on the liquidity of the asset and their intention.
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Liquidity risk management (continued)

The Group's contractual undiscounted repayment obligations on interest bearing financial liabilities are as
follows:

31 December 2022

Less than 1-5 More than Total
12 Months years 5 years
Borrowings * 963,952 214,573 217,173 1,395,338
Payables and other credit balances 278,122 176,939 33,408 488,469
Other financial liabilities 5,893 175,523 - 181,416
1,247,967 567,035 250,581 2,065,583

31 December 2021

Less than 1-5years  More than Total
12 Months 5years
Borrowings Q42783 1,007,975 203,528 2154286
Payables and other credit balances 738,406 49373 14,313 802,092
Other financial liabilities 79,945 77223 - 157168
1761134 1134,571 217,841 3113546

*Borrowings include bonds payable of 543,944 that are due within one year for which the Group is in the process
of refinancing. The Group is in the process of negotiating the refinancing of the Bond with several banks. The
Group has sufficient assets to pledge as collateral for refinancing the Bond.

The Group's strategic approach to repaying its upcoming debt liabilities includes:

e Refinancing of part of the current borrowings, process which has already commenced and the Group
is holding discussions with various banks. It is expected that this conclude in Q2 2023.

e Settlement of part of the debt for non-cash consideration. The Group has started discussions with @
number of lenders to settle a portion of the current borrowings through non-cash consideration and it
expects to conclude the settlement agreement in Q2 2023,

e Theremaining current debt liabilities will be repaid from cash generated from operating activities of
the Group.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes
in market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. The Group faces market risk
due to positions that are exposed to interest rate, currency and equity price movements.

The Croup has significant exposure through one of its subsidiaries and one of its associates to a listed equity
investment for which the book value of equity is lower than the listed price. In accordance with IFRS 13, the
investment is fair valued at its listed price. As a listed equity, the price is subject to market fluctuations and is
monitored in line with the Croup's risk management guidelines.

The Board of Directors approves the investment guidelines to limit the Group's exposure to market risk. Within
these guidelines the Group Assets and Liabilities Committee sets performance targets and allocates risk and
capital enterprise wide and approves investment rules for each business or strategy. Group Risk Management
monitors independently the level of market risk on a daily basis against the investment rules at each level of the
company. Any issues or excessive exposures are resolved immediately and reported to the Group Assets and
Liabilities Committee to determine if further action is required. Also, the Group Assets and Liabilities Committee
decide whether any enterprise-wide hedging is required to mitigate any material Group wide exposures.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair
values of financial instruments. The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable change in
interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group's consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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31 December 2022

Effect on
other
components Effect on other
Effect on profit or Effect on profit of equity for components of
loss for 0.75% or loss for 0.75% 0.75% equity for 0.75%
Financial Net increase in decrease in increase in decrease in
instrument exposure sensitivity sensitivity sensitivity sensitivity
Borrowings 1,206,206 (9,046) 9,046 - -
31 December 2021
Effect on
other Effect on other
Effect on profitor  Effect on profit or components components of
loss for 075% loss for 0.75% of equity for equity for 0.75%
Financial Net increase in decrease in 075% increase decrease in
instrument exposure sensitivity sensitivity In sensitivity sensitivity

Borrowings 1,985,419 (14,891 14,891 -

The sensitivity of the consolidated statement of income is the effect of the assumed changes ininterest rates on
the finance cost for one year, based on the variable rate non-trading financial liabilities held at 31 December
2022 Thereis noimpact on the Group equity, other than the implied effect on profits. The CGroup also has hedging
arrangements to manage the interest rate risk.

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates.

The Group has exposure in foreign currencies as a result of its geographically diversified operations which is
monitored by management in adherence with internal guidelines.

The table below indicates the currencies to which the Group had significant exposure as at 31 December 2022
The analysis indicates the effect on profit of an assumed 5% change in the UAE Dirham value against other
currencies from levels applicable at 31 December 2022, with all other variables held constant.

31 December 2022
Effect on profit  Effect on profit
or loss for 5% or loss for 5%

Net increase in decrease in

Foreign currency Assets Liabilities exposure sensitivity sensitivity
Sterling 432,674 157,815 274,859 13,743 (13,743)
Qatar Riyal 491 521 (30) 2) 2
Egyptian Pound 1,365 281 1,084 54 (54)
Kuwait Dinar 864 750 114 6 (6)
Euro 2,606 2,487 119 6 (6)

438,000 161,854 276,146 13,807 (13,807)
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25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

Foreign currency Assets
Sterling 419259
Singapore Dollar
Egyptian Pound 1508
Kuwait Dinar 37
Euro 1,896
422700
Price risk

31 December 2021

Net
Liabilities exposure
211,731 207,528
185 1,323
8290 (8253)
284 1,612

220,490

202209

Effect on profit
or loss for 5%
increase in
sensitivity

10,376
66

(413)
81

Effect on profit
or loss for 5%
decrease in
sensitivity

(10,376)

(66)
413
1)

(10,110)

Price riskis the risk that the fair values of securities decrease as the result of changes in market values. The effect
of price risk on the Group with all other variables held constant is as follows:

Net

Financial instrument exposure
FVTPL

Equity Investment 71,418
Fixed Income 16,301
Fund Investment 580,321
FVOCI

Fund Investment 562

668,602

31 December 2022

Effect on
profit or
loss for 5%
increase in
sensitivity

3,571
815
29,016

33,402

Effect on
profit or loss
for 5%
decrease in
sensitivity

(3,571)
(815)
(29,016)

(33,402)

Effect on other
components of
equity for 5%
increase in
sensitivity

28

28

Effect on other
components of
equity for 5%
decrease in
sensitivity

(28)

(28)
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Price risk (continued)

31 December 2021

Effect on Effect on Effect on other Effect on other
profit or profit orloss ~ components of components of
loss for 5% for 5% equity for 5% equity for 5%
Net increase in decrease in increase in decrease in
Financial instrument exposure sensitivity sensitivity sensitivity sensitivity
FVTPL
Equity Investment 23357253 116,863 (116,863) - -
Fixed Income 97138 4856 (4,856) - -
Fund Investment 655,833 32792 (32,792) - -
Evod
Equity Investment 23366 - - 1168 (1168)
3,113,590 154,51 (154,511) 1168 (1168)
Below table highlights the geographical allocation of investments:
31 December 2022
North
Assets UAE GCC MENA America Europe Asia Total
FVTPL
Equity
Investment 71,418 - - - - 71,418
Fixed Income 12,137 3,519 - 645 - 16,301
Fund Investment 120,285 14,148 - 445,888 - 580,321
FVOCI
Fund Investment - - - 562 - 562
203,840 17,667 - 447,095 - 668,602
31 December 2021
North
Assets UAE GCC MENA America Europe Asia Total
FVTPL
Equity
Investment 2,335,017 2236 - - - 2337253
Fixed Income 94,810 1,616 - 598 - 97,024
Fund Investment 159,388 17,088 - 479,471 - 655,947
FVOCI
Equity
Investment - - 23566 - 23,366
2589215 20,940 - 503,435 - 3,113,590
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Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from systems failure, human error, fraud or external events. Authority
is delegated by the Board of Directors to Group Management Committees to set the Group wide operational
policies to manage the risk and control environment and meet the expectations of the Board of Directors and

shareholders.

Group Risk Management use a risk and control framework to identify, measure, manage and monitor risk
throughout the Group and ensure adherence to CGroup wide policies.

Capital risk management

The primary objective of the Croup's capital management is to ensure that the Group maintains a strong capital
structure, in order to support its business and to maximise shareholders' return.

The Group's policy is to maintain a strong capital base well above the minimum requirements to maintain
investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business.

The Group considers its share capital, retained earnings and reserves as its capital and monitors the capital
structure via the leverage ratio. The leverage ratio is monitored by both RCB and ALCO against internally set

limits which have been approved by the Board

The capital structure of the Group in terms of the gearing ratio is as shown below:

31 December 31 December
2022 2021

Borrowings 1,206,206 1,985,419
Payable to client 3,505 9,701
Customer deposits 14,546 20,501
Lease liabilities 33,408 40,399
Repurchase agreements - 41562
Payable against acquisition 172,876 226,893
FVTPL liabilities 142 1,610
Other financial liabilities 163,808 148267
Total debt 1,594,491 2,474,352
Total equity 1,520,181 1,846,062

Debt to equity ratio 1.05 134
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26. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Contingent liabilities

31 December

2022

3,560

31 December
2021

10,375

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has capital commitments of 14,976 (2021: 141,201) with respect to the project

development.

27. CLIENTS' FUNDS UNDER MANAGEMENT

A subsidiary of the Group is licensed as a financial services company regulated by the Central Bank of the United
Arab Emirates. As at 31 December 2022, clients’ assets amounting to 9.5 billion (31 December 2021:7.8 billion) were
managed in a fiduciary capacity, without risk or recourse to the Group. These funds are off balance sheet items

and do not constitute part of the Group's assets.

28. INTEREST IN MATERIAL SUBSIDIARES

Summarized financial information of material subsidiaries with NCl is as follows:

Summarized statement of financial position
Assets
Liabilities

Net assets

Summarized statement of comprehensive income
Revenue

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive loss for the year

Total comprehensive loss for the year
NCI -1 January 2022

NCI movement in 2022

NCI - 31 December 2022

Summarised cash flows

Cash flows generated (used in)/generated from operating

activities

Cash flows (used in)/generated from investing activities
Cash flows (used in)/generated from financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

SHUAA Spadille Squadron
Capital Group Group
Group

702,044 228,536 267,776
(378,292) (8,205) (32,776)
323,752 220,331 235,000
64,106 20,087 44,453
(110,921) (997) (80,857)
- (18,947) -
(110,921) (19,944) (80,857)
96,537 42,020 253,548
(14,150) (9.112) (95,695)
82,387 32,908 157,853
(4,406) (3,458) 7,329
(646) 770 -
(7,996) 3,115 (13,524)
(13,048) 427 (6,195)
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29. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

31 December 31 December

291 Assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale 2022 2021
Assets held for sale 50,204 5930
Assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale (A) 135,926 -

186,130 5930
292 Liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale (A) 68,019

Details of financial results and the cash flows of the discontinued operations are provided below:

31 December 31 December

2022 2021
293 Profit from discontinued operations
Total operating income 27,635 234,656
Total operating expenses (160,231) (16,861
(Loss)/profit from discontinued operations (132,596) 217795
294 Cash flows from discontinued operations
Cash flows used in operating activities (76,601) (8,016)
Cash flows generated from investing activities 158,300 309,138
Cash flows used in financing activities (223,555) -

Net cash flow (used in)/generated from discontinued operations (141,856) 301,122

(A) One of the Group subsidiary became a non going concern during the year as management does not forecast
any future plans for the subsidiary. Therefore, the management has decided to liquidate the subsidiary. As a
result, the subsidiary financials were prepared on a realisable basis. Assets include bank balances of AED 5,712,
receivables and other debit balances of AED 10,645 and finance leases of AED 120,159. Liabilities include
borrowings of AED 68,506.
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30. LOSS OF CONTROL IN SUBSIDIARIES

Details of assets, liabilities, financial performance and cash flows of subsidiaries over which control was lost
during the year are as follows:

Goldilocks Palm NCM Investment
Assets Investment Northacre Company.
Company (B) ©
(A)
Cash and deposits with banks 7,162 - 143,791
Receivables and other debit balances 3,594 - 6,044
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(FVTPL) 2,055,021 - 47,259
Investment Property - 236,660
Property & Equipment - - 11,298
Goodwill and Intangibles - - 109,647
Liabilities
Borrowings (841,412) (137,620) -
Payable to unit holders (413,769) - -
Payables and other credit balances (7,622) (9,500) (31,393)
Net assets disposed off 802,974 89,540 286,646
Gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiary
Consideration received 802,974 15,059 196,676
Non-controlling interests - 75,952 102,975
Net assets disposed off (802,974) (89,540) (286,646)
Gain on disposal - 1,471 13,005
Net cash flows on disposal of subsidiary
Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents - 15,059 -
Less: Cash and cash equivalent balances disposed (7.162) - (143,791)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow (7,162) 15,059 (143,971)
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30. LOSS OF CONTROL IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(A) Share swap agreement resulting in the disposal of the subsidiary Goldilocks Investment Company Limited
("Goldilocks”, or the "Fund”) and recognition of the investment in associate Eshraq Investments P.J.S.C (‘Eshraq’,
or the ‘acquiree’).

On 2 August 2022, the Group obtained approval from Securities and Commodities Authority (SCA) to proceed
with the proposed sale of its share in Goldilocks class A shares (5850%) in exchange for 994,304,014 shares, 35.3%
total and 29% parent's effective ownership in Eshrag. On 4 August 2022, the Eshraqg submitted to the Abu Dhabi
Securities Exchange the request for the issuance of the new shares along with the list of new shareholders and
the number of shares allocated to each one of them in the process to complete the share swap transaction. On
9 August 2022, the Group completed the disposal of the Fund and recognised the investment in Eshraqg. The
transaction has been completed through o share swap transaction at an agreed swap ratio of 12.61 Eshrag
shares to 1 shares of the Fund.

The Group has recognised the equity interest of the acquiree as the fair value of the consideration received, this
being equivalent to AED 713 million and AED 90 million relates to the share of the acquiree attributable to the
minority holders of the Group's subsidiaries that had exposure to Goldilocks (Note 14). The Group is in the process
of performing a purchase price allocation (PPA’). The value in use assessment over the investment in Eshrag has
not indicated any impairment. The Croup expects no material change as a result of the final PPA.

The Group will continue to act as the fund manager of Goldilocks but has no exposure to the variable returns of
the Fund, as such management has assessed that the Group has lost control of the entity.

(B) During Q4 2022, the Group has sold down its interest in Palm Northacre to 017% and as a result lost control
over the subsidiary. This has resulted in a gain on disposal of AED 1.5 million.

(C) On 10 August 2022, the Group's subsidiary, AMWAL International Investment Company KSCP, entered into an
agreement to sell its 51% stake in NCM Investment (Kuwait). NCM Investment (Kuwait) is an online financial
brokerage firm in Kuwait. During the year, the Group derecognised the subsidiary as it has determined that it
no longer has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operational activities of NCM
Investment (Kuwait) and has recognised a gain on disposal amounting to AED 13 million.

Consideration received as part of this transaction amounted to AED 197 million out of which AED 28 million has
already been received by the Group as the date of the approval of the group financial statements with the
remainder expected to be received by the end of 2023.

There are no contingent liabilities or contingent assets that have been recognised as part of above presented
transactions, including pension liabilities or other ocutstanding social contributions to the employees of the
disposed subsidiaries.

All three disposed subsidiaries were reported in the Corporate segment on Note 5.

The Group has reassessed the income statement presentation based on changes in the business, driven by the
balance sheet deleveraging and business combinations that took place during the year. This has resulted in
certain line items being presented differently to prior year financial in the income statement, however the
operating segment (Note 5) is presented in line with prior year present.

31. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There have been no events subsequent to the reporting date that require adjustments to or disclosure in the
financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2022,

32. COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

During the year, the CGroup performed an exercise to determine if the presentation of the consolidated financial
statementsisin accordance with IAS 1"Presentation of financial statements” and IAS 7 - Statement of Cash Flows
("IAS 7"). Certain comparative figures have been reclassified in order to conform with the presentation for the
current period, but these did not have any impact on the previously reported equity and profits.
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32.

321

COMPARATIVE INFORMATION (continued)

Changes in presentation of the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

As a result of the changes in the business and discontinued operations, management has reassessed the
presentation of items in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and has re-presented the following:

There was a reclassification from the prior year's presentation whereby certain income line items are
now presented under the Total Income section of the continued operations financial statement and
certain financial line items were further disaggregated.

In terms of note 29, certain businesses met the discontinued operations criteria as per IFRS 5 - Non
current assets held for sale ('IFRS 5”) and have been presented in the (loss)/profit from discontinued
operations financial statement line item on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss. As
a result, the corresponding amounts for these financial statement line items have been re-presented.

The segmental reporting presentation (see note 5) is consistent with the prior period presentation of the
consolidated income statement (except for net fee and commission income, advisory income, trading income
and other operating income which are presented net on the face of the primary statement and broken down in
note 6 of the consolidated financial statements.

322

Changes to the consolidated statement of cash flows

During the year, the following were adjusted in the consolidated statement of cash flows:

Distributions from associates amounting to AED 26,741 (previously included under the financial
statements line-item "Non-cash distribution from associates” within operating activities) has been
reclassified to investment activities in the current year in the consolidated statement of cash flows, with
a corresponding restatement of the prior year amount.

Cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operations amounting to AED 28342 and cash and cash
equivalents acquired in business combination were reclassified to investment activities in the
consolidated statement of cash flows as required under IAS 7.

31 December 31 December
2021 2021
Before  Adjustment After
Non-cash distribution from associates 26,741 (26,741)
Net cash generated from operating activities 316,775 (26,741) 290,034
Cash and cash equivalent from discontinued operations 28,342 (28,324)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired in business combination - -
Distribution from associates - 26,741 26,741
Net cash from discontinued operations - 28324 28342
Net cash acquired in business combination - -
Net cash generated from investing activities 385,351 54795 440,416
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